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INTRODUCTION

Obio's Corrupt Pxaetices Act--the state ^^rs^^^ of the federal RJCO statute------was

enacted to address the ^roblem. of ongoing criminality bY giving prosecutors, as a legislative

sponsor said, a "toughest in the nation7 statute. But several appellate districts, including the

Second District in its decision below, have shackled the Act, forcing the State to prove an

element ^e drafters did not include and ef-fectively taking this tool out of the hands of

prosecutors in many cxz^^nal. mos. The apIpel.1ate courts have strayed from the ^^^^ of Ohio's

statute, lured by some federal coui-ts' interpretations of the federal cou-nterpart. But the federal

^ea^o-ii:s the Ohio courts followed were mirages, as later U.S. Supreme Court decisions

^^nfinned. So even if f^^^-ra^ law should guide the meaning of Ohio's statute-a dubious course

since the Ohio statute reaches more broadly-the path the Second and other districts have taken

must be rerouted.

The core of Ohio's Act is the twin concepts of "enterprise" and "spat^em of corrupt

^^^vitye" This case ^oneems the relationship o.'L" those concepts. An enterprise is an

sWgan^zation, association, or group of persons," however loose, that is connected to the criminal

activity; the pattem is the series of crimes ^^^ems^lves, The district courts in Ohio difif'^^ over

whether a prosecutor can prove the enterprise element by showing a structure inherent in the

pa€^^ni of corrupt activity (under the soMca^^ed "s^^arate-e5ement" view of the statute) or must

prove a structure "separate and apart" ft^^ that patteni (under the somcalled `&s^parate-s^^ture}s

view of the statute). 'I'Ms difference formerly divided the federa1 appellate Col.Tts, but the U.S.

Supreme Court resolved that issue (consistent Mth the State's position zn. this case) in 2009.

'Fhis Cowt has twice before acknowledged the split in the lower courts, 'D^.^t ultimately

deeli-ned ruling on the question in this appeal. a^^^ State's Mot, For Recon. at 2-3 (Oct. 7, 201'j)



(listing cases). It should not repeat that outcome. The Second District is ciitaeiic^^ed, now

drawing on its own precedents to {,^ment its ^-rror in. borrowing fed^ral âa^ (and now incorrect

federal law to bos^t)e Other districts-like the Tenth ------^^em locked into the s^r.ie error. Without

resolution now, prosecutors in ss^in^ of OMo's most populous ^^tmt^^s xiIl operate without the

fal1 measure of a statute the General Assembly design-ed to combat criminal ^^^e-rprisws.

The cu.r^^^^ split i-n Ohio's c€^^s and the former split in the federal courts arose ftom. '.he

sometarnes difficult distinction between the patt^m and the enterprise. That distinction is rightly

labeled s`ela^sivea" Paul Batista, `^^vi1 RICO laractice Mas.^ual, § 6.02 (3d ed, 2014). One

corimentator'^ effort to address the elusiveness helps make concrete Viiat foxrnerly split ^^e

federal circuits and what led the Second District astray. I-^e writes: under the separatemstructure

view, proof that a football team "engaged i.n the pattem of activity of playing ^ootbai^ would not,

in and of itself, establish that the team was an `enterprise."a .fd. at 6.02[B]. 13ut under the

^^parate-^^ement (but not ^eparatemstructure) view, "proof that the ^earn engaged in a pattem of

playing forstbA would also provide proof that it was an ^en^^rprise' for RICO purposes, since the

proof a..^ to the existence of the enterprise and the pattern would tend to `Coalesce,43` Id. The

latter view is now the law of the land for the federal statute. And it represents i^^e natural reading

of Obio's similar (indeed, broader) statute.

Those competing views of what Ohio's statute means were at play with th.e following

facts. Defendant Jordan Beverly was one of th.e "worker bees" who, after stealing vehicles in

other c€^tintges9 broke into houses in Clark County, stole ^ghnvalue items, and fenced them for

money. ^^ev^^ly ^ihd his associate repeated this pattern over at least three znonths5 ^ulm^^lating in

five ^urgla-ri.es the day they were caught. Those crimes show an organization that threatens

future crimes x^l a way different from. Beverly and his ^^^ci-a:te acting only sporadically each
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time a criminal ^ppofmnity pr^^^n'ted itself That threat-where some organization makes future

crime more lik^lyand more, daniagin.g to $be social fabric of the law-abidi^^ majority-is exactly

what the ^ornkpt Pra^:t^^^s Act is designed to t^warto

The Corrupt Practices Act reaches enterprises that--like the criminal acts in this case-

arise from the 'natterr^ of coartipt activity itsel^ The Act is igat limited-as the Second Da^^rict

held here in reversing the conviction-to enteapr^^^^ Nxit.^ a separate existence that also engage in

a pattem of corrupL acts. As one court exr^lained, the enterprise may be a group cxforned for the

sole pt^^^^ of carrying out a pattem", of illegal acts. Pavlov v. Bcxnk qfNew York Co., Inc., 25

F. App'x 70, 71 (2d Cir. 2002) (reversing flower court that demanded "continuity extending

b^^on€3. the pattem of predicate racketeering acts"). The Act's language, structure, and purpose,

as well as other courts' iriterpretation of similar statutes all tell us that th.e pa.ttem can reveal the

enterpriseo such as when a series of crimes sb.a^^s that the perpetrators hd^e an ongoing

relationship that facilitates the crimes. These factors all rebut the view of some Ohio districts

holding that an enterprise must be a strLicture "separate and distinct" from the pattem of criminal

acts.

First, the language. The Ohio statute defines enterprise broadly. In drafl^^g that

definition, the General Assembly was coc^if-y-i.ng a broad reach for the statute a=ediately after

the U.S. Supr^nic Court had to confront the question under the federal statute of whether

beenterprise" was narrow and included ogA^ legal associations. The Supreme Court saad no, and

the General Assembly wrote a correspondingly broad law. See R.C. 292331(C) (eaiterpra^^

includes "illicit as well as licit enterpri.ses")o The expansiveness of the definition is evident in

Nvhat the General Assembly did not write. Instead of defining e-nterpri^e narrowly ^^^^h as by

limiting it to "a group of persons sharing a common purpose of engaging in criminal conduct,

3



associated in an ascertainable stru^t-are distinct from a ^attem of crirriinal activity, aigd wit1i a.

continuity of existence, stmetur^ and criminal purpose beyond the scope of individual crzmizial

incidents," e .g. , N.Y. Pened Law § 460,10(3), it wrote broadly to encompass "any organization,

association, or group of persons associated infact al^^^o, not a 1egal: entity,95 R.C. 2923e3 1(C)0

Second, the structure. The three core offenses tmder the Act are (1) conducting or

participating in an enterprise tyzrou.gh a pattem of corrupt activgtys (2) acquiring or maintaining

an interest in an. enterprise by means of a laatter€^ of cormpt activity, and (3) investiag, proceeds

of con-upt activity in an enterpiise. R.C. 2923.32(A). While o&^"enses (2) and (3) conten-ipla^e an.

enterprise entirely separate from the patter^^ of corrupt a^tivity, offense (1) does not. A -nd

offense (1) is listed first. The for^^ont of legislative ^on^em. was corrupt activity camed. out

through organization (however loose).

Third, the purpose. The Act is desigiied to "stop . . . criminal enterprises." Stale i^

Schlos,,^er, 79 Ohio St. 3d 329, 335 (1997); qf H ,I. Inc. v. Nw. Bell Tel. t"o,, 492 U.S. 229, 242

(1989) (federal statute designed to combat -the `{flreat of continuing [criminal] ^ctivity'4)a W1^en

repeat crime is organized (aai enterprise) and not sporadic, it poses a distinct danger to the social

order. The statute is aimed at criminal enterprises even if they exbibi1 no other struct^^ ^^an the

orga.rizaz^^n necessary to con-in-int crinie.

Finally, the experience of t1-ie federal courts and courts in other States. Some lower

federal. courts once eflnbra^^^ a meaning of "enterprise" like what the Second District did bere.

But the Supreme Co€irt has since corrected those lower courts. And other states cota.rts thatf have

looked closely at the issue have rejected the position of the Second District. Ohio appellate

courts that lost their way latched on to a federal interpr^tation. that has since been repudiated

even for the narrower federal statute.
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STATEMENT OF FACTS A^^^ PROCEDURE

A jury found Jordan Beverly guilty of violating Ohio's -prrztte r^ of corrupt actl^^ statute

after an 8-day trial. App. Op T 6. The corrupt-practices charge was count one of a 25-count

indictment covering acts o1` burglary, receiving stolen property, and possessing weapons uncler a

d^ sabillty------a^^s the, stretched from November 2010 through .Ianlaary 201.1, (Indictment, R. 1).

The prosecutor described Beverly's role in the crlmlnal. scheme as one of two "worker bees" in

on ongoing pat€em of thefts and sales of the fruits of horne burglaries. (Trial Trans. at 213)

(opening statement). ' The scheme work-etl like this. Beverly and his partner (l:mber) would get

rides from C1ark. County (the scene of most of the burglaries) to another county and steal a

vehicle there. (Id. at 214, see also id. at 387-88, 455). Beverly and:I:m.ber wotald return to Clark

County and case houses while pretending to work for a tree-cutting service (Id. at 214; see also

id. at 1008-10). If someone answered the door, they claimed to be selling firewood; if no one

answered, tb:ey broke in and removed iteins like I`Vs, guns, and _^ewePidr. (fd. at 214). They then

quickly sold the items for cash to several different fences. (Id. at 21 6o see also gd. at 1379).

By the time law enforcement caugh-t up to Beverly and. his partner on January 28, 2011,

-thegr scheme had peakec1. They committed five separate burg1ari.es earlier that day. (ide at 233;

see also ad. at 92€1, 941, 1032, 1065, 1128-29). By 'cheras the pattem of burglaries had aroused the

suspicion of neighbors, some of whom had provided a descriptlozi of the stolen truck being used

to corntnit burglaries on the 28th. (Id. at 238; see also zd at 1038m1041). A clescription. ^^the

tnick led authorities to it and the defendants. (Id. at 23 95 see also ^d. at 115 0, 1177, 119 8).

Throughoait the series of burglaries, Beverly and Irnlser (and otherg) worked as a

etcrimlnal tewn"Y to make money ftom :^^ea1.1^g and selling property ihey filched fT^m the homes

I A1l pages oI'^e trial t-ranscript through page 242 are to the pr^^^cutor's opening statement.
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of people who were at work. (Id. at 242)e Beverly and 1mber's role on the Lmn s1^owed

repeated ^^^^ems and efficien€;y. Tin one instance Tl?e,r even used the same stoleii, dealer tag on

different stolen ve-hicl^^ when they broug-ht the vehicles back to Clark County. (Id. at 233). And

after his apprehension, Beverly rode around Springfield witli the police to sl^ow them the houses

-vvhere he a:eid Innb^r fenced property they had stolen. (Id. at 1379). ^^^^ed, when they were

caught, even ^^ugb. they had burgled five houses that day, they had already fenced televisions

and guns. (Id. a41 856) (closing argunienx).

Beverly challenged his ca^nvictior. and sentence on appeal. 'Fhe Second District held that

the pa^ernwof=c€arrup^-a^^ivitxes conviction rested on insufficient evad^nceo and ^ev^^^ed for

resentencziig, App. Op. ¶ 30. A-nd, although 13averly did not assign it as error, the Second.

Distric; held that the trial court erred by ;4fail[ingJ to anst^^^^t the j^ry . . . using the definition" of

"enterprise" deveIoped by some lower federal courts. Id. ¶ 3 1. Judge Donovan dissented o -n

grounds gia^^ raised zn. this Court.

ARGUMENT

^^^^^^s Prop2gf^^^ ^^^awe

In order to prove the existence of an "enterprise " to sustain a €,€anviction^'°€^r engaging in
a pattern of corrupt activity in violation of R. C .^ 9-73. 32, the 5tate is not required to
prove that the organization is a structure separate and distinct from the pattern of
activa,^v in which it engages.

The Ohio statute "was designed to impose . . . liability for the criminal enterprise." ^5tate

v. Miranda, ---------- Ohio St. 3d .... --- 9 20144Ohio-451 ¶ 14 (internal quotation gnarl^^ omitted). The

language, structure, and purpose of Ohio's statute show this design to attack criminai. enterprise

activity, and, critically, affirm the State's in^erp^^tataon here that an enterprise may be proven

^om the ^^^em of the corrupt acts themselves. 'I'l^^ State's interpretation is also confirmed by

other States that have adopted this same view with respect to their similar acts. The ^^^on€i
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District's contrary viev^, by coraiparisonS never addresses the statute's language, structure or

p€amose, hastead it looked to federal law, but U.S. Supreme Court precedent D.ow shows that it

misinterpreted that federal law.

A. The broad 1anguage of the Act includes both enterprises inherent in a, pattern of
corrupt acts and those separate from the pattern.

'i'lze language of the Corrupt Practi_ces Act shows that it contains no requirement that the

enterprise exhibit a s^ctur.-e independent of the pat^^in of corrupt activity. That requirement

adds an additional element that the General Assembly left out; it dWls a tool for attacking

ongoing criminality; and it makes the Act something other than the "toughest" in t1^^ nation. The

pattem of activity can prove the eitterprise. The text shows this in several ways.

For one thing, a separate-structure requirement would contradict the "illicit or licit"

language. in the definition of enterprise because it would suggest that enterprises organized to

carry out wholly illegitimate activity also must carry out some legitimate activity. R.C.

2923.3 1(C). If the corrupt activitil cannot be used to prove the enterprise, prosecutors essentially

.^^ed to prove that the organization conducts some legal acts. Thus, <s[^]o require that an

associated-in-fact enterprise have a structure beyond that necessary to carty out its racketeering

activities wotdd be to require precisely" what the Act "does not require." Odom v. Microsoft

Cr^rp., 486 Fo3d 5141, 551 (9th Cir. 2007) (en bane). Such a requirement "would necessitate f-hat

the enterprise have a ^tmetti^^ to serve both illegal racketeering activities as well as legitimate

activities." Id. The General Assembly rejected such a requirement when it included "illicit" in

the enterprise rle^'^.-iition. R.C. 2923.3 1(C).

At the very least, insisting that the enterprise exhibit a structure. separate from Vne patter^

of corrupt activity would mean that an enterprise that engaged in only one ki^id of corrupt

practices would escape liability no matter how wide-spread the activity, while a small-scale
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enterprise that engaged, in two kliids of illegal activity would be liable. That is, ^^^parate-

s€r^cture requirement would artificially excuse a largea^cas.e criminal enterprise that, for

example, consistantly robbed jewelry stores, because those operations would not extalbl^ any

strueLure "separate and apart from" fne robberies. App Op. '^ 29, But a ^^parate--structLire

r^quirerfli^^t would still encompass a sma.ll--^cale enterprise ihat both sold drugs and peddled

prostitution. 1?os. the ^malla^ca3.^ enterprise involved in multiple kinds of corrupt acts, ^^^^i

applying a separate-structure requirement, the different kinds of activities would be enough to

show a structxr^ separate from the ^iderlyang pattem of either set of predicate acts ------a

prosecutor could c1iarge the drug crimes as the pat1^^ and prove a separateas^cture enterprise

bv pointing to the organization needed to conduct the prostitutla'n. As one court illustrated the

point, a separate-structure requirement would mean that "a large se-e.1e underworld operation

which engaged solely in trafficking of heroifli would not be subject to RICO's enhanced

sanctions, whereas sma.ll--time criminals jointly engaged in infrequent sales of contraband drugs

-ind illegal handguns arguably could be prosecuted under RICO." United&ates v. ^^a=4, 700

F.2d 85, 89 (2d Cir, 1983). The plain language of the statute confirms the point. T'1^^ statute

makes each listed crime a potential "corrupt activity." R.C. 2923,3 1 (1). If defendants can escape

liability by confining their illegal actioii to a sizigl^ defined corrupt activity, they would evade

liability even though the General Assembly specifically included that particular crime in theAc°t.

The Act is written to cover la+otli. specialized enterprises engaged in a single kind of corrupt

activity and sma[l-sca.le enterprises engaged, in multiple kinds of corrupt acts. The Second

Distrlet's interpr^tatAozl rmrltes the statute to eliminate a key component of What it is designed

to cover.
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Another way the text betrays a s^para.te-s^^ture requirement is that the requirement

necessitates a, n.as^^^ reading of a definition written broadly. Enterprise includes "any

individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, limited partnership, corporation, trEZst, union,

govemmer^t agency, or other 1^ga1.. entity" and -xtends to "any [otherI argara^z^.^:ir^n ^ ^ssocia^t;.rsn3

or group of persons associated in fact." R.C. 29213.31(C) (eAapbasis added). Statutes "phrased in

broad, sweeping ^^^guage" have "sweeping a^pl^catiogi." State ex reX. Mager v. State Teachers

Retirement Sys. qf Ohio, 123 Ohio St. 3d 195, 2009-^^o-4908 116 (per curiain)z see also Smith

v. Landfair, 135 Ohio St. 3d 89, 2012mObioa5692 ¶ 29 (noting broad lat^^uage of statute when

liberally construing specific ^em.z). Demanding proof that the enterprise has a structure over and

above that needed to conduct its illicit airris ^^aws the meaning of enterprise to something

more akin to a busiriess. But that is decidedly not what the ^en^^al Assembly intended when it

penned the words "or group of persons associated in fact although not a legal entity." RAI

29233 l(C)e A separate-structure requirement improperly narrows the definition of an

associated-in-fact enterprise because crimLna,^ enterprises "may not obsenvre the riceties of

legitimate organizational At°€a.ctureso" LjnitedStates v. Patrack, 248 F.3d 11, 19 (ist Cir, 2001).

A separate-structure reqaaireinerA all but makes superfluous the ";pe;sons associated in. fact"

portion of the enterprise definition because that requ^^^^eait essentially demands proof of

structure like an "organization [or] ass^^iation.'4 R.C. 2923.31(C); ef State ex reL Carna v.

:t'eays Valley Local Sch. Dist. Bd. qfEd., 13 1 OMo St. 3 d 478, 2012-Ohiom 1484 41( 19 (no part of a

statute "should be treated as superfluous unless that is manifestly reqiairedo and the court should

avoid that . cons^ruction. which renders a provision meaningless or inoperative") (intemal

quotation marks omitted).
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Yet another way the text disproves a ^^^arate-s1cructur^ ^^qui^cinent is the core s"^^^^^^ of

^orrapfi activity" language itse1f °I'hat language "supplant[ed]" an earlier statu:te that outlawed

engaging in organized crime. Ohio Leg. Servo Commyn, Summary of Eizactmerit^ ^anuary-July

1985, 45. '!'hat change reveals tl^^ ^^ii^ral Assembly's conceni. with b^oadeii€ng fh^ ^^acb, of the

statute from traditional (highly) oa,g^^^ed crim.^ to all enterprises that pose a risk of continuing

criminality. 'a'h.e change shows "a general intention to broaden7the statute. Brown iP. Martinelli,

66 Ob.'cs St. 2d 45, 49 (1981). Reading in a separate-structure requirement narTows what the

General Assembly intended to broaden. ^ early comment on the Act agreed. "The use of the

term "cs^^^t a^^i-vity" indicates that Ohio did not intend trs :limit [the Act's] application to those

persons trar1I^^onay labelled [sic] 'organized criminals' wid 'racketeers' or to the infiltration of

organized crime into legitimate businesses. Rather, it is likely that Ohio igit^nded the statute to

apply to a wide variety of criminal activity." Note, Ohio's Pattern of Corrupt Activities Law...

Ohio Revised Code &ction,s 2923.31--360 1 e Univ. Dayton L. R. 279,288 (1991)o 'I'heco:^ent

also rightly predicted that "Ohio's corrupt activities statute will be used primarily against

ordinary criminals who happen to be coxnected with some sort of enterprise, regardless of

whether that enterprise is legal or even distinct from the pa^em of cc^n-upt activity itself." Id. at

3 ) 0 ^ (altho u.gh this prediction was on targeI,1^^e author wrongly urges that the statute should have

a rigFd separate-structure requirement).

A final way the text shows that the statute contains no s^parate- ^^ruc'^^ requirement is

the obvious ways that altemate text could impose that requirement. If the ^ ^eneral Assembly had

intended that the Act contain a separate-structure requirement, it could have said so explicitly.

,5tale va Cowan, 101 Ohio St. 3d 372, 2004-Ohi.o-1583 T, l I (rejecting interpretation that General

Assernbly "could have explicitly" embra^ed, but did not). If the General As^em.bly intended a
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particular meaning, "it would not have been difficult to find language which woua1d eNpress that

ptupose." .^^^e Shore ILIec. R. Co. v. Public Utilities Comm'n of Ohio, 115 Ohio St. 311, 31.9

(1926). For example, New York defmes f`^^^^ina1 ^^^erprlse}, as "a group of persons sharing a

common ^uxpose of engaging in crimi^^^ conduct, associated in an ascertainable structure

distinct from a pattern of criminal actiNity, and 1AI.th. a continuity of existence, stn^^^^ and

criminal pta^^^e beyond the scope of individual criminal incidents." N.Y. Penal Law

§ 460,10(3) (emphasis added). That is effectively what the ^^conci District's ^^^arate-structure

requirement adds to the Ohio stattate. But th.c General Assemlsly did not use language like their

1`^sew York counterparts. And this Court should not countenance the Second District's judicial

addition to the statute.

C^^ne last thing. Even though the text definitely rejects the notion that the enterprise

element must be shown by proving a gtruc^^ separate and apart from the pa^^em of corrupt

activity, that does not collapse the pattem and cgiterprise elements into one. `1'h^ saine evidence

ft^qu^ntly proves multiple elements of a crime. Consider th.eft bv decepti.o.n. If a crimlnal

deceives a pawn shop about the value of the ^mkmed item, those facts show both a purpose to

deprive the owner of money and the decept:on., See, e.g., State -P, Nelms, No. 17657, 2000 WL

217116y at *4 (2d Dist. Feb. 25, 2000). The same is true for the f^^eral. and Ohio statutes that

:,neltade s`pattem'7 and "enterprise" as elements. Even if "the same evidence may prove" the

^^^tem and the enterprise, that "does not mean that the two elements collapse into one.`} Boyle,

556 U.S. at 950 n.5; see also State v. Tf'^lch, No. 16m06--02, 2006-Ohiom6684 28-29 (3d Dist.)

(xiols^^^^ that the `same evidence" supported the pa^^m and enterprise elements of a Cornipt

Practices Act conviction).
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B. The structure of the Act, like the language, shows a broad intent to reach
enterprises whether they are inherent in the pattern of corrupt activities or not.

More than the specific words of the statute rebuff the idea that the Act contains a

separate-structure requirement. Two structural features of the Act also show that the ent^iprise

element anay be satisfied by proof of the pattem of corrupt acts, even witheti^ evAden ce that the

enterprise exhibits astructure separate and apart from the pa^em. See, ea g. y symrnes T,^p. Bd. of

I^ustee>s v. Smyth, 87 Ohio St. 3d 549, 552 (2000) (examining "language, structure, and purpose"

to interpret ,^;tatute)o One stm^tural h-iclicator is that the statute's three substantive offenses each

treat the relationship between the pattem zu^d the enterpnse differently. An.€1. one of those three

plainly contemplates the loose soz^^ of associations that typify small-time criminal ^^^^erprises.

The second. ^^^^iira.1 feature is the breadth of the enterprise definition compared to another

s^^^^^ed crin-ic pre^vi.sio^ th€; prohibitaon. on criminal gangs. The specificity of the gang

d^^-nita€an illustrates the breadth of the expansive enterprise definition.

Otiio'^ ^^^^t activities statute prohibits three different relationships between an

enterprise and a pattem of corrupt activity, and that tripartite fraa.^eworl^ undercuts any notion

that an enterprise must have a st-ructure separate and apart from the pattern. The three

prohibitions are (1) participating in. the fiffair^ of an enterprise, (2) a^quiria^g an interest in an

enterprise, and (3) investing in aii enterprise, eacli by conducting a pattem of corrupt activity.

R.C. 2923.32(A). The second m-id third prohibitions contemplate some distinction between the

pattem and the enterprise. "l:'lae ban on "acquixing e , . control" of a.,^ enterprise ^^ug1i. a pattem

of co^.^t acts suggests that the enterprise has a life apart from the ^^ttem. R.C. 2923.3?(A)(2).

Aiid the prohibition against "invest[ingj_ o . o proceeds" from corrupt activity in "any enterprise"

evokes a distinction between the pa^^^^ of cornipt acts and the enterprise. 1Z.C, 2923032(A)(3),

B-€^t the same canz^^t be said about the crime of "participating" in. an enterprise thxrougb. a pattem
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of cormpt acts. Participating contemplates overlap lsehv^^n the ^^^em and the en#erpnseo This

"broad definftion^^ ^tand.[s] in contrast to the more limited definition[s]" aiid cor^^rms the

h^ead-th of the enxe-rprise described in section 2923.32(A)(1). See Wohl v. Swinney, 118 Ohio

St. 3d 277, 2008-0bao-2334 ¶ 21 (interpreting insurance oontadt)o National Archives and

Rccords° Adrnan. v. .l-0avish, 541 U.S. 157, 165-66 (22-004) ("comparative h^eadthy" of one section

and wiother required avoiding "cramped" reading of broadly worded seetion) (quotation marks

omitted). And the breadth of the -thr€^^ ^rohihitaons ial^^n as a whole dispels any notion. that the

meaning ox enterprise has only a narrow scope. "5ee &ate v. Jackyon, 102 Ohio St. 3d 3 8€1, 2004m

Ohio-3206 ¶ 3 6 ("criminalization of numerous : . . activities" indicated the broad ptarpose of the

statute).

A-nother structural. feature of the Act demonstrates the breadth of the enterprise definition

in section 2923.3 1 (Q------the comparatively marro^^r meariing of "criminal gang" in the adja^^^^^

part of the Revised Code. A criminal gang, unlike a Corrupt Practices Act enterprise, must be aii

organization or association. of threc or more, 66mem_hers" that share a common name or other

ide-nti.fying symbol. See R.C. 2923.41. Thi^ narrow defmition of criminal gang contrasts v6th

-the broad definition. of cgi^erpxi^e and shows that enterprise is broadly de^..^ned. As the U.S.

Supreme Cotart observed in using a similar structural clue to interpret the RICO statute, the

"breadth of the 'enterprise' concept" is "iliighlighted by comparing the statate '"rith other . . ..

statutes that target orgartized criminal groups." Boyle, 556 U.S. at 949 (comparing RICO to a

different st:-atute that defined "continuigig criminal enterprise" as "five persons who act in concert

and . . . have an organizer, supe-rvisor" or other manager") (intema1 quotation marks o^itted).

"1'he contrast between the broad enterprise definition and the narrovaer "criminal gang"

defmition is lost if an enterprise must exhilsit-as the ^^^ond District insisted-a structLire apart
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from. the pat^em of corrupt activity itself Indeed, the Second District's interpretation of

enterprise wotil^^ make it nr^^^^^^^r thap. criminal gang, because a gang is defined in part by

having "&s one of its primary activities the commission of one or more" designated crimes. R.C.

2923a41(A)(1). So even the more narrowly drawn Criminal Gang Statute recognizes that ttle

existence of the organization may be sho^vn by the illegal acts themseaves. The Second District's

insistence that proof of enterprise m^,^^ entail more than the struct-ure inherent in the underlying

criminal acts would make the Corrupt Practices Act ^^^^er than the Gang Statute despite the

^lain. textual indicator ^^ the Gang ^ta-Lute is z^^ant to be the ^iara^^er law.

C. The ^^^^^ purpose removes all doubt that evidence illustrating a pattern of corrupt
acts can also establish the existence of an enterprise.

More than language and structure ^^^= that an ente^srise need not exhibit a strxctuxe

separate and apart from the pattern of corrupgactivity. The Act's purpose also shows that an

enterprise may be establ^^^^ed from the patt^m of corrupt acts th.emselves. Ohio's act is z-ntended

to "stop . . . criminal enterprises" by imposiiig "cumulative," "additional liability" beyond the

underlying corrupt acts. State v. Sc^lo,^^er, 79 Ohio St. 3d 329, 335 (1997) (reinstating

conviction reversed by appellate court); see also Miranda, 201. 4-O1lio--451 41( 10 (act intended to

impose separate liability for violating the statute and committing the underlying crimes); id. at

¶ 26 (act designed to punish activities "fcond.iaci[ed] . e o within a criminal enterprise") (Lanzinger,

J., concurring). Oli€o"s Corrupt Practices Act is designed to attack "organized criminal

activities," riot merely organized crime. Gongwer News Service 1985 Ohio Report 117, 3 (June

18, 1985). As a sponsor described it, the Act is 4`state-of=the-ar€ legislation" designed to be "the

toughest and most comp^eheaisi^^ racketeering influence corrupt organization (RICO) act in the

nation." Id. (describing and quoting statement of Senator Watts)o Those purposes are

i^iconsis^^^^ Aith a cramped view of what constitutes an e€^^erpn se.
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^urt1^^^ evidence that the purpose of the Act rqjects a narrow meaning for ^^^^erprise is the

contrast between the current 3awr and the law it replaced. The 1.985 Act `xr^^^eal[ed] the c ^.^^ of

^iigagaixg in organized crime an.d sLipplants it with. the crime of engaging in a pat^em of corrupt

activity." Obio Leg. Servs Coigun'n, Summary of Enactments (July 1985), 45; see 141. Obio

Laws (Part 1) 11€15 (1985) ^^^^eaIz^g R.C. 2923.04). The prior law criminalized offly those acts

committed with a purpose to "establish or maintain a cririianal syndicate or to facilitate any of its

activities" where a syndicate meant "'five or more persons collaborating to . . . engage in . o a

[certain c°rimes^ on a continuing basis." See St€rle v. Ya^^ng; 62 Ohio St. 2d 370, 373 (1980)

(quoting former R.C. 2923.04j 135 Ohio I.,aws (Part 1) 1923m24 (1973)). A-n enterprise that mtist

exhibit a structure separate from the patter^ of activity is more U-c the l^Nv that the 1985 law

replaced, which addressed only crlmir.aal syndicates. The intended breadth of the Ohio statute

cannot be squared with a narrow reading of the enterprise element.

Reading a selsarate-structure requirement into the Cori-upt Practices Act also umd^rniines

t1^epurpose of a state statute that parallels the:federal RICO act. Ohio, like x`[mlast states," has a

parallel statute to the federal RICO law writh. a "broad enterprise definition[]" aimed at reaching

soall. forms of organized criminality, however loose the association might be." Note, Stalking the

Enterprise Criminal: State RKY) and i-he Liberal Interpretation of the Enterprise Element, 81

Camell L. Rev. 224, 272 (1995). A narrow ^ean.itig of enterprise clashes with aniporLant

justifications fo-r having a parallel sts.tute..

A state parallel serves an important deterrent to "the relatively large numbers off smal19

time criminal organizations" because "federal RICO is often limited ^^o only the most well-

developed criminal syndicates," and "states have far greater prosecutorial resources to combat

ls^cal enterprise criminality." 81. Come11 L. Rev. at 231. Ohgo4s statute empotvers prosecutions
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against these s`^mallR^^^^ criminal organizatio-tis}g by creating statewide investigation and

prosecution power i^. the Ohio .^.^a^mey General. LT^a^^^ the Acto the ^^om^^ General leads

investigations into corrupt practices as the chair of 'the Ohio Organized Crime Itivestig^^^^^s

Committee ("OOCIC"). Die OOCIC is charged lAith "coordinat[ing] investigations of organized

criminal activity." R.C. 177.01(B)0 The commission may set up a "task force" to investigate

alleged corrupt practices. R.C. 1.77,02(B), The Commission then aids ^^^^^er the task force or

local law enforcement and local prosecutors in ^nv^^^^ga^i-ng and prosecuting ongoing criminal

activity by providing fimd^^^ for confidential €n-fornyant^ and technical trainfings loaning

equipment such as pen registers and covert surveillance cameras, and offering specialn

prrssecuti^n assistance tk^^ough assistant attorneys general with experience in ^vhite-^^^lar and

^^ptnpractic^s traal.s.2

NVith the Corrupt l'.ract^^^^ Act filling a practical gap left by fed^ral. RICO prosecutions, a

separate-structure requirement (^hat is not even present in t^^^^^ law) thwarts that gap-filling

role because it ^^^^s ti-ic Ohio statute nrarrc^^^r that its federal ^^^^^rpaito An^ narrowing of

the state statute's ability to fill this gap is especgaly sign^^car^^ because the statute allows "juries

1^ see the connections between multiple crimes rather than a disjointed array of criminal

activities," 81 Cornell :L Rev. at 232, through mechanisms such as letting one county pro^^cLitor

present the full patte^ of ^^ffupt activity to a single jury. See R.C. 177.03(E))(2),

Another benefit of a state parallel statute is that it takes advantage of local law

enforcement's better o.^-the-ground knowledge of local enmes compared vd.th federal law

emP€^^^^mezit. "[L]^^^l and state authorities are often far more knowledgea^^e than their ^`ed^ral

2 ,^^e http 1/w^Arw,ohioattornc ' ygeneral.^o-^Ylgetattachment/0ficft4c5-3529-^^dOR9f6c4
bb2^4a36ebfl.fOhita--Orgardzed4(arime-^n-^restiga^^ons--[1a^it-^^^^iew.aspx (last visited Feb. 2,
2014).
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coti.^terp^^ aboait enterprise criminality in the axea^ where they have been working for long

periods of time. `1'his is ;^^iticiflarl.y true in rural areas Where there are no F.B.I. or U.S. Attom^^

offices, and members of local law enforcement have ^^wm up in the very communities they

^erve,'' Id. at 232. Rea€Ig-ng Ohio's versloii of RICO more P-arrowly than its f^^eraI counterpart

sacrifices tfais 1aw-enfo^^em^^t. comparative advantage.

The purpose of Ohio's current Compt Practices Act, as ^^^n thrs^ugh. its history and

anir^ating justifications, reject a reading that confines "enterprise" to only those organizations

that exhibit a structure separate and apart from the pattem of corrupt acts.

D. Other jurisdictions read their similarly worded statutes as rejecting a se:pa^^teM
^tructure requ1rement for the enterprise element.

The experi^^^^^ of other States confinns what the language, structure, and pi^^se of the

Ohio Act already dictate a^^^t the breadth of the enterprise element.

The Florida Supreme Cowt addressed the same problem. that faces this Court, and held

that Florida law contains no ^^^arateLLstructure requirement. '1'he court faced a split of

interpretations in its lower appellate courts about the m^ariing of enterprise. It resolved the split

by rejecting the position identical to the one the Second District emr braced in this ca:.^e, Like

Ohio's Secorid District, orzeflorada district "essentially" required "a showing that ^.^^ enterprise

be an ^ii,^^ing and separate entity beyond the ^^^^ commission of the alleged predicate efimina,l

actso" Gross v. ^3tale, 765 So. 2d 39, 43-44 (Flao 2000). '1"hat lower a 1o-r1da court essentially

inquired "as to -^,Vhetlh^r the removal of the predicate acts would necessarily elimB^^^^^ the

enterprise. If the answer is yes, there is no separate entea-prise; if the answer is nt), an enterprise

is established," Id. The Florida Supreme Court disclaimed that narrow view, instead explaining

that the State can prove the e-nterprise element by showing just two things: (1) an otigoin^

organization, formal or info^na1, with a conimon purpose of engaging in, a cotirs^ of conduct,
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which (2) func^^^^^ as a continuing unit. Id. at 45, In reaching that conclusion, the Florida

Supreme Court rejected earlier F^^^^dq. cases that had fr^^^owed the same federal cases that the

Second District did in this case. Id.

Other state courts agree watta the reasoning of the Fl^nda Supreme Court, explaining that

proving enterprise is nok a high hurdle. The Utah Supreme Court concluded that two men

satisfied the enterprise element where they had "an ongoing association in fact for the purpose of

making money trom the sale of controlled substances." State v. .t^^^rr^tha 749 P.2d 631, 637

(Utah 1988). The two thus "functioned as a continuing u^.it for a ^ommoii purpose of engaging

i-n a course of conduct," and, when combined with. "acts constituting a pattem of racketeering

activity, ^^tabI.^she[d] the necessary elements to convict." Id.

-Fa^^^ decisions recognize that pro5ri^^ enterprise is not an elaborate requirement.

Instead, the word cr^n-vey^s no more than basic €^^ganizatioii., As th.e Connecticut Supreme Court

held when interpreting its corrupt-pract^^^^ statute, proving ^^^terpra^^ demands "no proof' of a

E6struct^^ separate and apart from the patt^^ of criminal activities.'' Stale v. Rodriguez-.Roman,

3 A.3d 783, 793 (Conn. 2010). Thus, "evidence that senres -to establish, such an enterprise need

not be distinct or different fro;xa the proof that estab1ifi}ies the pattern of racketeering activity."

Id. Therefore, as a New N°exi^^ court noted, the purpose of an. enterprise "may be as simple as

eam ing money from repeated il?^ga1. acts." State v. Hughes, 767 P.2d 382, 389 (N.M. App.

1988) (enterprise engaged in rn^^^^^aphetarmine maaufactLuin,^) (intemal q€^^tetaon marks

omitted).

The "enterprise" is a separate element of Ohio's (and others') con-^^^ practices acts, bil.t

that element does not bear the -wreigh^ that some lower courts in OMo have placed on it, An
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enteTrise need not be hierarchical or have goals beyond acc^rnpllshig^g the corrupt acts. 'l"he

enter-prls^ may be apparent ^'ror-a the pattem of activity itsexf.

E. The Second District's "separate and ^parc^^ ^^quirement to prove enterprise derives
from a misreading of federal law.

As shown, the Second Dl.strict's s^^arate-structure requirement cannot be ^bund in Ohio's

statute. Nor-as other state decisions show----can it be found in the generally broad concept of

enterprise as used ln. many state parallels to fne federal RICO act. To its credit, the Second

District did not claarn to find its separate-s;r°ucture r^quirenicait in the text of Ohio's act, or in the

experiences a^oth^^ States. Instead, the Second District reversed Beverly's cor3.victiori bel.ierVin^

it was "appl[ving] federal law," when it liels^ that his crariviction res.ted orr. lnsu^'^icient evidence

t^^t the enterprise exhibited "a structure separate and apart I^om the pattern of corrupt activity."

App, Op. Ij' 30-31 (internal quotation marks omitted). But the Secorid District misreads the

federal law it inserted i-nto Ohio's statkifie.

Before 2009, the lower federal. courts disagreed about whether the enterprise element in

the RICO statute embodied a s^parate-st.ructize requl^emerrt^ But, in 2009, the U.S. Stzpreme

Court resolved the dispute by rejecting the idea that an enterprise must exhibit a structure

separate and apart from the pattem of racketeering activity. The his^or-v of that dispute and its

resolu€.1on show the Second 1=3istr-act's error,

I'h.e fecleral origin of the sepa.ratewstruct.are requirement is usually attributed to an Eighth

Circuit decision, tinited States v. ^^edsoe. The Eighth Circuit, tlzirikirrg it was applying the thenm

rec^^t U.S. Supreme Court decision in lI,^^^^d States v. T^irkette, explained the requirement this

,%vay: strAarr enterprise n-iust have an 'ascertainable structure' distinct frrsm that inherent in the

conduct of a ^attem of racketeering activity. This distinct structure mlglit be demonstrated by

proof that a group engaged in a diverse pattem of crimes or that it has an organizational pattern
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or system of authority beyond what was necessary to perpet^^^^ the predicate crimes. The

command sys.tem, of a Mafia fanffly is ^ example of this type of st^^^ettire as is the hierarchy,

planning, and €livzszon. of profits ^vith1n a prostitution ring." lit^^^^d States v. ^^^dme, 674 F.2d

647, 665 (8th Cir. 1982) (emphasls added) (internal quotation ma.rks and citation omitted)

(reversing RICO convictions for fraudulent sale of securities). The Eighth Circuit based this

interpretation of the enterprise element on a passage in :1"urkette €aotigg,^ t-hat an e.rzterprlse "is an

entity separate and apart from the pattem of activity in which it engages." Id. at 663m64

(interpreting Z1niFedSrates v. T-urketae2 452 U.S. 576, 583 (198 1)ja

That, however, was only one view in the federal circuits about how to interpret _! urkettg.

In contrast with the 1<1.ghth Circuit, several other federal circuits held that the ciiterprise element

may be inherent in the pattem of corrupt acts itself. Only two years after 7'^rk-ette, the Eleventh

Circuit rejected the argument that an enterprise "must possess an Gascert^nable structure' distinct

from that l.nlzerent in the conduct of a pattem of racle.eleerl-ng activity." Unite.d RS'tates v. Cagriana,

697 F.2d 91:5, 921 (11th Cir. 1983). Other circuits ll-ned up on opposite sides of this splil.

Compare e.g., United States v. Patrick, 248 F.3d 1.1.; 18 (lsx Cir. 200 1) ("explicitly reject[ing]"

the Eighth Circuit's .^^^edsoe approach); (Jnit^d States v. Riccobene, 709 F.2d 214, 224 (3d Cir.

1983) (enterprise must have "an existence beyond that which is necessary merely to commit each

of ^^e acts charged as predicate racketecrfli,^ offenses").

This divide worked ifts way into Ohio law. Some districts, like the First, Eighth, and

Tenth, embraced the federal cases like Bledsoe that d^mat.ided. a stnicture separate from the

uraderlyi^^g acts. See, e.g: } Ramminger v. Archdiocese ^f Cincinnati, No. C-060706, 2007-Ohia^^

^306 T-11, 20 (1st Dist.); ^^^rakovgc v. Catholic Diocese qf Cleveland, No. 85467, 2005--Ohao-59$5

^ 24 (8th Dist.); Morrow va ..^ema.^^er & Reminger Co., L.P.A., 183 Ohio App. 3d. 44,2009-Clhio-
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2665 ¶ 38 (10th Dist.). Other districts, Ue tb-e Fi^-^. and NipAh, declined to follow these federal

authorities. See, e.g., State v. Yates, No. 2409 CA 0059, 2009-Ohio-6622 (5th 1^^st.); State v.

Wilson, 113 OhioApp, 3d 737 (9th Dzste 1996); see also State v. Franklin, No. 24011, 2011-

Ob.lo-6802 ¶¶ 92s^^ (2d Dist.) (cataloging Ohio districts); ABA Section of Antitrust Lxw,RICO

State by State: A Guide to Litigation Under the State Racketeering ^tatites, 956 nn.3365-67 (2d

ed. 2011) ^saine).

F'or its part, the Second District generally aligned itself with the federal Eighth Circuit

and the Ohio districts that required a separate structure to prove the enterprise element. See, e.g,,

State v. ^en.. No. 98 CA 17, 1999 WI, 76826, *3, 5 (2d Dist. Feb. 19, 1999) (citing Bledse^e for

the "structure separate and apuf'a^quzremerit); State v, Zorn, No. 98 CA 16, 1999 WI. 64254, *

3, 51 (2d Dist. Feb. 12, 1^^^) (same). Despite citing federal aut1^oriti€;s for this point, the Second

District regarded its decisions as resolving the appeals °{^^rithout reference to the federal

requirements." State v. Franklzn4 2011-Ohiom6 8 02 1194 (in^emal qu^ta^^^n m^rk's on-ii^ed).

°^^iat changed in 2011 when the Second District explicitly decided to follow federal cases.

In reversing a conviction, the court lielcl that "the trial coini. should have instructed the jury,

consistent with the federal 1aNv on 'enx^rprise."' Franklin, 2£311-Ohio-6802 ¶ 105. Franklin is

the direct predecessor to the r^pirdon in this case. See App. Op. at ¶^ 30s 32. The Second District

thns fomially aligned itself with federal ^-trcuits that interpreted the U.S. Supreme Court's

7"urkette decision to require a structure separate an.d apart from the patt^i-n of activity. That is,

the ^^con.d District took "the view that a RICO complaint must allege an enterprise that lias

some type of stracture separate from whatever organizing principle a-rises firom the acts of the

people or entities that constitute the group" Civil RICO Practice Manual, § 6.02 n.7.
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While Ohio courts continued to line up on opposite sides of th.e debate about proving

enterprise, the U.S. Supreme (;ourt ended the debate under federal law ln. 2009. Notably for

present purposes, zn. Boyle v. United Sttites, 5 5 6 U.S. ^^^ (2009), the Court "'resolved this issue"

in favor of circuits like the Eleven^,.^. that ^ennitted proof of enterprise as a structure inhereiit in

the pattem of activity. See U.S. Delsartmeyit of Justice, Crzr^^ina,l RIC70.• 18 U^.^ C §§ 1961-

1.968, 78 (Sth ed. 2009). So at the time that Ohio's Second District adopted federal law in 2011

(in its Franklin decisi^ii)x the U.S. Supreme Court had already renounced the very interpre^,^^on

of federal law that the Second District was adopting. Boyle renounced the argument that "the

existence of an. enterprise may never be inferred from the evidence showing that persons

associated with the enterprise engaged in a pa^^em of racketeering actl-6ty.'y 556 U.S. at 947.

:lnstead, it held that prosecutors can prove the enterprise element by showin; these features: "a

purpose, relatiogishlps among those associated with the enterprise, and longevity sufficient to

permit these associates to pursue the enteTrise$s purpose.'p Icl. at 946. Put another way, an

ea^^^rprase need not exhibit a structure separate and apart .^^^ the racketeering activity, at need

only be an entity separate and apart from the pa^em of activity.

Despite the U.S Supreme Court's holding, the Second Dlstriet adopted the interpretation

of federal law discarded by that decision. 1`ne Second District reversed Beverly's conviction for

insufficient evidence of "a structure separate and apart from the ^^^tem of corrupt activit;i.vy

App. Op. T, 30. The Second District attributed its separate-structure requirement to :l'urkette and

^oyle, 1°S^t neither decision contains that language. Insteady the idea that an enterprise must be a

gGst^ctur^: separate and apart" from the-pattem of activity traces back througki. earlier Second an. d

T^^ith District Ohio cases citing to federal decisions such as the Third C;za^cuitxs decls;on. in
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Riecoberze. See .,#^'ranklin, 2011 aOhio--6802 $ 91 (citing State v. Warren, No. 92AP-603, 1992

WL 3 94872 (i€lth Dist.Dee.. 31, 1992)); Warren at *3 (citing Riccobene).

Boyle sim. ply cax,^ot be read consi^^entiy vvith. what -th^ Second Distnct held in this case.

Boyle explains that, w-hile provin.^ an enterprise remains an element of a RICO ol"fense, and ina^^^

be an entity "separate and apart" from the patterra of activity, the enterprise need not have a

structure separate and. apart fsom. the pattem. Iffie "existence of an enterprise may . . . be

inferred from the evidence showing that persons associated with the enterprise engaged in a

pattern of racketeering activity" and `th^ evider^^e used to prove the pattern of rack^^^enn^

activity and the evidence establishing an enterprise may . . . coalesce." Boyle, 556 U.S. at 947

(intemal quotatiogi marks omitted).

Although the cvidence may coalesce, proving a pattem does not necessaril-y prove an

enterprise because it is "easy to envision situations in which proof that individuals engaged in a

pattem of racketeering activity would not establish the existence of an enterprise. For example,

suppose that several individtaals, independently and without coordination, engaged in a pattem of

crimes listed as RI:CO predicates----for example, bribery or extortion. l;roof of these patterns

would not be enough to show that the individuals were members of an enterprise." Id. at 947

n.4, B«yle r^af'fir^s the obviousthet enterprises are distinc4 elements of a Rl^^^ ^onvictfon ------

laut it removes any stiggestioii that an enterprise must exliibit a structure separate and apart from

the patterra itself

Boyle upended the foundation for the Second District7s judgment reversing Beverly's

conviction. But the Couft need not just take the State3s word for it. Courts and commentators

alike proeW€^ that Boyle rejected the req€.airement of proving a stnicture separate and apart from

ibe pattem of activity. The '1'enth Circuit (wl-i€eh previously adhered to tl-ie view reflected in the
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Sec^^id District) holds that "Boyle . . . eschew[ed] . . . [tbe] requirement[]y^ that "th^ enterprise

st have] an existence separate and apart from the pa^em. of racketeering activity." United,-

Stales v. Hutchinson, 573 F.3d 1011, 1020-21 (10th Cir. 2009). And the Seventh Circuit

acknowledges thatBoyle "throws . . . in. doubt" prior circuit precedent and requires "nothing

more" of atx enterprise than purpose, relationships, and longevity. ,16W.E. Hayden Found v. T arst

Neighbor B€ank; N,4., 610 F.3d 382, 389 (7th Cir. 2010) (Posner, J.). Commentators agree tllat

Boyle "rejected" the xequireiner^^^ of certain circuits, including the requirement that an enterp-rise

exhibit a structure distinct from the pattem of cc^rnipt acts. RICO ^'Late by State: A Cxui^^ to

Litigation Llnd^r the State Racketeering Statutes, 956 n.3365; see also Criminal RICO: 18 US C.

§§ 1961a1 968" 78 (13oyle "resolved" the separatemstruct^^ question i-n favor of those circuits

finding no such requirement in the Act). After Boyle there is sirraply no way to read federal law

as the Second District did w^^en it reversed Beverly's conviction.

`f'o be sure, one con^em that may have motivated the Second District's reversal is tnie-------

^^^e C^n-upi ^ractices.Act does not reach every pattem of corrupt activities. C-f Boyle, 556 U.S.

at 947 n.4. VVhen even the mininial structure iieeded to prove an enterprise is lacking, a

^onvictioii. under the Act is inap^ropriate. But those cases are far fe-^%Y^r than would result if the

Secoiid District's judgment stands. Two cases illustrate. A federal court dismissed a RICO

count where the ^laintBft`s did no more than. Aege that a group had corra.itted numerous

predicate acts listed in the statute. Doe I v. State of hvraelo 400 F. Supp. 2d 86, 119 (D.D.C.

2005). As the court explained, it is "not enough. for a group of individuals to cormna^ acts

enumerated ^^^ [the RICO statute]; plaintiff inaast assert that ttassse -indivgdua^^ were organized

together in some way, and that there was a struct-ure to the assoczati.o.n.°" Id.
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A state court example ^'^om New Mexico dnves the point home. `^ hereo a d^^endan.t

repeatedly exchanged drugs for izr-kind payments from different buyers, iiicluding work on his

house. State v. Rael, 981 P.2d 280 (Ne'4e App. 1999). Those "[s]poradic, temporary criminal

alliances" did not "demonstrate the sort of organization" showing an enterprise "in the

association between ^^efe-ndant and buyers for personal use.5' Id. at 284 (reversing racketeering

convict^on).

The evideiiec from Beverly's ^^^ shows the distinctitsg^ between these failed prosecutions

im.der RIC(^ and. one of its state counterparts. Far ftom alleging no organization at aHx the

prosecution pr^^ed. ^.^.at Beverly and b.zs associa^e were the brute i'orce in an enterprise that

repeatedly stole cars ftom other counties, cased houses in Clark County, burgled those houses

while ^wmers were at work, and quickly fenced the stolen items for cash. And, in contrast with a

"temporary criminal alliance," Beverly's eria^^s comprised a structured plan in-,,,rolving out-ofR

^ounty vehicle thefts, coordinated house burglaries, and. hasty fencing of the property for cash.

Beverly and his associate were part of an enterprise wi`^^ the niinimal structure needed to sustai -n

a conviction uiider Ohio's Corrupt Practices Act.

The Second :I1strict reversed 13everly's cogiviction by claiming to use federal law as its

beacon. But federal law hdd already resolved. this question opposite to the Second Distriet's

view. In summary, the ^^^^iid District's bold.ing conflicts with the text of the statute, its

structure, its pur^^^^., and ca^^ law interpreting ^i-m.ilar statutes. It even conflicts with the very

federal law on wIlich it relied; It must be rmer^ed.
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CONCLUSION

The Coml should reverse the judgment of the Second District and. reinstate the conviction

under Ohio's Pattern of Coanipt Practices Act.
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APR 2013
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€^i^..s^^l^^ ^., ^'CE fi^°f^ ^^^

P^,€^uanttc^ the a^ain^ ^t^T _r^`^^^^^ day ^f ^^^^^ o^^^^,

^everly'r, conv€ctic^^ and sent^nce for e'ngaging in a paftrn of corrupt acdvit^ ^s revemed

and vacated; the sentence imposed by the trol court is reversed, and th^s cause is

remanded for re-sentencing.

Costs to be paid by pl^int(ff-appelIee.

Pursuant to Ohio App.R, 30(A), ^ Is hereby ordered that the Clerk of the C-Na€k
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[Cite as Staa'e v. Beuera ,̂;s, 2013-Ohiaa-1365.1

1N'THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR CLARK COUNTY, OHIO

STATE OF OHIO

Plaintflff-AppeIlee

V.

JORDAN BEVERLY

Deferkdant-Appellant

C,A. CASE NO. 2011 CA 64

'1".C. NO. & 1CR258A

(Criminal appeal from
Common 1'im Court)

a. s-......,v_.r •

RPINION

Rendered on the 5th day ofApril, 2013.

LISA M. FANNIN, Attye Reg. No. 0082337y Assistant Proswuting Attamey, 50 E. Columbia
Street, 4th Floor, P. 0. Box 1608s Sprangfield, Ohio 45501

Attomey for Plalntaff-Appellev,

MARSHALL G. I.,ACHMAN, Atty. ^e& No. 0076791, 75 North Pioneer Blvd., Springboro,
Ohio 45066

Attomey for ^^^^endantnAppel lajit

FAIN, P.J.

fl 1) Defendant9^ppe11ant Jordan Beverly appeals from his conviction and sentence for

one count of Engagiag in a Pattem of Corrupt Activity, in violation of R.C. 2923.32(A)(1)9 a
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felony of the first degree; eight counts of Burglary, in violation of R.C. 2911.12(A)(3), all

felonies of the third degree; five couait^ of Receiving Stolen. Property, in violation of R.C.

2913e5 1, all felonies ol'the fourth degree; one count o&'Recezving Stolen 1Drc^^^rty, in violati^^^ of

R.C. 2913.5 lj a felony of the fifth degree; one count ol"Attemptdd Burglary, in violatian of R.C.

2923.02 and 2911.12(A)(1)y a felony of the third degree; one count of Attero-pted Burglary, in

violation of R,C. 2923.02 and 291 l.l2(A)(3)x a felony of the fourth degree; two counts of Fleeing

and Eliading, in violation of R.C. 2921.331 (B), a felony of the third degree; aiid one caunt of

Having Weapons 'W'hil.e Under Disability, in violation of R.C. 2923.13, a felony of the third

degree.

[12^ Beverly contends that the trial court erred in overruling his motion to suppress,

incriminating statements he made to police, because those statements were not luiawing and

voluntar.v. He conteiids that the evidence in the record is in:^uff-acient to support his convictio^i

foa^ Engaging in ^Pattem of Corrupt Activity, becatise there was insufficient proof of the

existence of an enterprise. Beverly also contends that his sentence of 66;^^ ^ear^ constitutes an

abuse of discretion. Fiaaally, Beverly contends that his convictions for Receiving Stolen

Property atid for Having 'Weapons While tJnder a Disability should have been merged.

3) We conclude that the trial court did not err wheii it overruled Beverly's motion to

suppress, because the record establishes that his incriminating statements were made lnowingly,

intelligently, and volunta.rilv. We agree with Beverly that there is insufficient evidence in this

record to prove the enterprise element of Engaging ir: a Pattern of Corrupt Activitye We agree

with Beverly that his sentence of 66V2 years constitutes an abuse of discretion. We also agrec

with Beverly that the trial court erred when it failed to merge his convictz^^^s for Receiving



3

Stolen Property and for ^lavIr^g a Weapon While [>flder a Disabglitv. Accordingly, Beverly's

conviction and sentence fior Engaging in a Pattem of Corrupt Activity is Reversed and Vacated;

the sentence imposed by the trial court is Reversed; and this cause is Rereia.nded for merger of the

Receiving Stolen Property and Having a Weapon Nk'hile Under a D1sablll^ convictions and for

reas^ntenclng.

I< The Course of Proceedings

{114) Beverly was originally indicted in February 2011. In April, Beverly was

re-Indieted in a 25-^ount lndictimerflt. Both indictments concerrfled a series of thefts and burglaries

that occurred in and around Clark County, Ohio, in late 2010 and early 2011. It was alleged that

Beverly committed most, if not all, o#"the offeeises wltb IiIs co-defendant, Brandon Imbere

ft Ti 5 J Beverly moved to suppress statements he made to police officers after he was

arr^^te-d and taken into custody. After a hearing on the motion, the trial court overruled it.

J^ 6) Beverly's jury tTial lasted eight days. Beverly was convicted on one count of

Engaging in a Pattern of Corrupt Activity; eight counts of Btirglary; six counts of Receiving

Stoleti PrssperW.; two counts of Atlempted Burglary; two counts of Fleeing and Eluding; aiid one

count ^^ Having Weapons While lInder a Disability. 'I`he trial court merged the hvo counts of

Fleeing and Eluding, and ^enteiiced Beverly to an aggregate prison term of 66lx years.

117s From his conviction and sentence, Beverly appeals.

H. Beverl;y's Waiver of his Miranda Rights, and Ii:.Tis

Subsequent Statements, Were Kmowi^g and Voluntary



IC:te as State v. Beverly, 2013-Ohio-1355.1
fl 8} Beverly's First Assignment of Error is as follows;

TI11;. TRIAL COUW1' ERRED IN OVE1'^tU.la1NG 7',ril ; DEFENDANT'S

MOTION TO S^FPPRESS.

1191 Beverly contends that the trial coiart erred Vften it overruled his m(3t1on to

suppress statements he made to police during a custodial interrogation after he was arrested.

Specifically, Beverly argues that the 1rxtervlew^^^ officer used physacal threats ar3d offe^rs of

leniency to coerce his statements. Accordingly, Beverly asserts that the waiver of his rights

under jVf1rarida v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct, 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966), was not

knowing, irfltellggento and voluntary.

{¶ 10} In deciding a motion to suppress, s`tl^e tTlal court assumes the role of trier of facts

wid is in the best position tt) resolve questions of fact and evaluate the credibility of witnesses."

State v. ^^pfer, 112 Ohio App3d 521, 548, 679 NX.2d 321 (2d Dist,1996), quotirags9^^^e v.

V^nham} 96 Ohi^.^ App.3d 649, 653, 645 ^LE,2d 831 (4th 13ist.1994). The court of appeals must

accept the trial court's findings of fact if they are supported by competent, credible evidence in

the record. &ate v. Isaac. 2d Dist. Montgomery No. 20662, 2005-Ohio-3733, citing ^31ate v,

Retherford, 93 Ohio App.3d 586, 639 N.E.2d 498 (2d Dlst.1994)o Accepting those facts as true,

the appellate court must then d.eterrnine, as a flraatter of law and without deference to the trial

^oLirt's legal conclusBoii, whether the applicable legal standard is satisfied. Id.

{If 11} The Flft}i Amendment provides that "[n]o person *** shall '^e compelled in any

criminal case to be a witness against himself." "The Fifth Amendment privilege against

compulsory self-incrimination `protects against any disclosures that the witness reasonably

believes could be used in a criminal prosecution or could lead to other evidence that rnlght be so

axsed."' Hiihel v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Ct. of Neve, Humbolt Cty.R 542 U.S. 177s 124 S.Ct. 245 1,
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159 L.Ed.2d 292 (2004) (quoting Kastigar v. Unat^^St€xtes, 406 U.S. 441, 445; 92 S.Ct. 1653, 32

L.Ed.2d 212 (1972)); Ohio v. Reiner, 532 U.S. 17, 20, 121 S.Cto 1252, 149 L.E.2d 158 (2001).

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that an individual has a right to

the assistance of counsel for his defense in all criminal pros^cut1oaiso 7'h:s right attaches only at

the initiation of adversarial criminal pr^^^ed1Figs. tJnited States v. Davis, 512 U.S. 452, 456a57,

114 S.Ct. `^^504 129 1:,.Ed.2d 362 (1994); State v. W8lliarn,s, 99 Ohio St.3d 439, 2003-Ohgo-4164,

793 N.Ee2d 446. Nevertheless, the United States Supreme Court has held that "a suspect subject

to custodial interrogation has the right to consult with an attorraey and to have counsel present

during questioning, and that the police must explain this right to him before questioning begins."

Davis, 512 U.S. at 45 7, citing Miranda v. Arizona, si€^Srae

(T 12} When a suspect waives his right to counsel after .^^^^^nda wamings have been

given, law enforcement officers are free to question him. However, once a siislaect requests

counsel, the police must cease their interrogation until an attomey has been provided or the

suspect himself reinitiates conversation. Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 484-85, 101 S.Ct.

1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981); Davis, 512 U.S. at 458.

fl 13) Whether a suspect has invoked has right to counsel is an objective 1nquiry. Id.

A request for ar. attorney must be clear and unambiguous, to the extent that a reasonable police

officer in the circumstances would un€lerstaild the state€^^ent to be an. inv€acatlor: of the right to

^ouxasel. DmFas, 512 U.S. at 459; see State ve Murphy, 91 Ohio St.3 d 516, 520, 2000aOhl€s-112,

747 N.E.2d 765.

(J[ 141 Beverly was first lnterv1e-vved by Detective Jaines f1ollopeter at a:botat ten p.m.

I hr€^ughout the brief interview, Beverly appeared lethargic and sluggish. At the beginning of
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the interview, Detective I-follopeter informed Beverly of his Mt^^ruia rights. During Detective

Hollopeter's recitation of his carflstlmgonal: rkghts, Beverly unequivocally sta:ted that he wanted to

be represented by an attorney. At that point, De.e;tlve Hollopeter ended the intervaew,

Although Beverly contends that Detective :^lollopeter forced him to his feet and slammed him

against the wall ljLi the interview room, the audiovisual recording of the interview does not depict

these actions. 'fhe recording does support Beverly's clalrn: that Detective flollopeter orally

threatened him, saNing "you rBeverly] are not going down for a couple of years. You're going

dowii for a couple of decades." 1:3everl.y acknowledges that three days later, he asked to speak

with Detective Hollopeter regarding has arrest, through a jail deputy, Matthew Kernso

{J 151 At the second, interview, three days later, Detective Ilollopeter began by asking

Beverly if he remembered invoking his right to counsel at the first interview. Beverly stated that

he was "pretty messed up," and that he did not even remember speaking with Detective

Hollopeter in the first interview or 1iivokarag his right to counsel. Beverly thern informed.

Detective Hollopeter that he wanted to discuss his role in the crimes for which he was arrested

and takeil into custody. Detective Hollopeter read Beverly his lt1granda rzghtfi. Detective

liolls3peter then asked. Beverly to read the rights waiver out loud, in order to make sure that he

uitd.erstos9d the contegits of the form. Beverly indicated that he linderstood his rights. Detective

Hollopeter also informed Beverly that he had just spokega with the prosecutor assigned to the

case. According to Detective Hollopeter, the prosecutor stated that "life wlll be hetter" for

whomever coflifesses first, be it Beverly or his coWdefendant, Iraabero 'Fher^after, Beverly waived

his rights and made a number of incriminating stater^ents, regarding his role in the bxrglarles and

thefts for which he was charged.
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1116) A defendant's statement to police is voluntary absent evidence that his will was

overbome aild his capacity 1`or self-determflna#aon was critically impaired due to coercive police

cotiduota Col€^^ado v. Spring, 479 U.S. 564, 574, 107 S.Ct. 851, 93 L.Ed.2d 954 (1987)5 State v.

Otte, 74 Ohio St.3d 555, 562, 1996-Ohlo-108, 660 N.E.2d 711. "ln deoldln'g, whether a

defendant's confession is involuntarily induced, the court should consider the totality of the

circumstances, including the age, mentality, a€ld prior criminal experloiioe of the accused; the

length, intensity, and frequency of iraterrogat1on, the existence of physical deprivation or

mistreatment; and the existence of threat or inducement." State v. Edwardv, 49 Ohio St.2d 3 1,

358 N.E.2d 1051 (1976), at paragraph two of the syllabus, overruled on other grounds, 438 LJ.S.

911, 98 SaCt, 3147,57 L.Ed.2d 1155 (1978). See also, State v. Brewer, 48 Ohio St.3d 50, 58,

549 N.E.2d 491 (1990); State v. Ma.rks, 2d Dist. Motitgomery No. 19629, 2003-Ohlo-4205. The

State has the burden to show by a preponderaiioo of the evidence that a defendant's confession

was voluntarily given. State -v. i1lelchaor, 56 Ohio St.2d 15, 381 N.E.2d 195 (1978). A police

officer's "[p]romlses that a defendant's cooperation would be coiisldere€1 gn the disposition of the

case, or that a confession would be holls^^.l, does not invalidate an otherwise legal confession."

State w}o LozaR 71 Ohlo St3€1 61, 67, 641 N.E.2d 1082 (1994), overruled on other grounds, citing

Echs,ards, 49 Ohio St.2d at 40-4 1.

17) Upon review, we cogiclude that Beverly's statements to Detective Hollopeter

were not liiducod by unlawful promises of leniency that would render his staternents aravolwita.ry.

Although Detective Hollopeter told Beverly "life will be better," the detective did n.ot promise

Beverly that he would receive a rrzore lenient sciltenceo Furthermore, Detective 1-l:ollopeter did

not indicate to Beverly that he had ariy control over the sentence he would receive, if Beverly
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cooperated. We conclude that Detective Hollopeter's statements to Beverly dtaria^g both the first

and second interviews did not render Beverly's confession invalu^^tary. The record portrays a

knowing and intelligent waiver ofMiranda as well.

1118) Beverly's Fii•st Assi^^iment of Error is overruled.

III. The State Failed to Prove the "Enterprise" ^'.1^^ent

of Engaging in a Pattern of Corrupt Activity

}lff 19} Beverly's Second Assignment of Error is as follawso

THE ^UR^.''S VERDICT ^STO COUN''T I -- ENGAGING IN A PAT^FR14d OF

CORRUPT AC`rfVITY SX-IOLI-^"^ BE REVERSED AS IT '%,'AS AGAINST THE

MAJ^F1F^^ST WEIGHT OF T^^^ EVIDENCE.

{$ 20} Beverly argues that his conviction for Engaging in a Pattern of Corrupt Activity

is against the manifest weight of the evidence. Specifically, Beverly ^^^eirts that the State failed.

to prove the ``enterprgse'7 element of the offense, which requires that there be an ongoing

organization, with associates, that functions as a continuing unit ^ith, a structure separate and

apart from the pattern of cornipt activity. State v. Frr^nklan, 2d Dist. Montgomery Nos. 24011,

24012, 201 I.-Ohics-68024 citing United States v. Turkette, 4.52 U.S. 576, 583, 101 SoCto 2524,

252$-29, 69 L.Ed.2d 246 (198 l).

}If 21} Although Beverly frames bi^ Second Assignment of Error in terms of a

manifest-weigh^ analysis, he actually argues that the evidence in the record is insufficient to

support his conviction for Engaging in a Pattem of Corrupt Activity.

}TI 22} "^ challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence differs trom a challenge to the
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manifest wei.s;bt of the evidence." State v. McKnight, 107 Ohio SOd 1.01,112, 2005aOhio-6€146,

837 N.E.2d 315. "In reviewing a c1a1rp of insufficient evidence, `[tJhe relevant inquiry is

whether, after reviewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational

trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime proven beyond a reasonable

dou'bt.' (Int^mal c1tatia^^s omitted). A claim that a jury verdict is against the manifest weight

of the evidence involves a different test. `The court, reviewing th^ entire record, weighs the

evidence and all reasonable inferences, considers the credibility of witnesses and determines

whether in resolving conflicts in the evidence, the jury c1early lost its way and created such a

manifest miscarriage of justice that the conviction must be reversed and a new trial ordered.

The discretionary power to grant a new trial should be exercised oilty in the exceptional case in

which the evidence weighs heavgly against the conv1ct1on,j49 Id.

11 ' 231 Engaging in a Patt^^ of Corrupt activity, is proscribed by R.C. 2923.32(A)(1), as

followsa

(A)(1) No person employed by, or associated with, any enterprise shall

conduct or participate in, dare^:^tlv or indirectly, the affairs of the enterprise through

a pattem of corrupt activity or the collection of an unlawful debt.

ITI 24) An "enterprise" includes any iildivldual, sole proprietorship, partnership, limited

partnership, corporation, trust, union, governmeilt agency, or other legal entity, or any

orgwilzatl^^, association, or group of persons associated in fact although not a legal elitity.

"Enterprise" iiicludes illicit as well as licit enterprises. R.C. 2923.31(C).

flfl 25) In t1nited States v. Y'u.^kette, 452 U.S. 576, 583, 101 S.Ct. 2524, 2528-29; 69

L.Ed.2d 246 (1981), the United States Supreme Court held that:
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1A order to secure a conviction under RICO, the Grverramer^t m, ust prove

both the existence of an `se-nterprise'^ and the connected °{pattem of racketeering

actiwityog' 'rhe enterprise is an entity, for present purposes a group of persons

associated together for a common. purpose of engaging in a course of conduct. The

pattem of r^ck-eteerlng activity is, on the other hand, a series of criminal acts as

defined by the statuteo 18 U.S.C. § 1961(l) (1976 ed.4 Supp. 111). The former is

proved by evidence of an ongoing organization, formal or irafrsrm. al, and by

evidence that the various associates 1anct1€^n as a continuing unflt. '.I"ne latter is

proved by evidence of the requisite fliumber of acts of racketeering committed by

the participants in the enterprise. While t1ic proof used to establish these separate

elements may in particular cases coalesce, proof of one does not ^^^^^sari.lv

establish the other. 'I'lie "enterprise" is not the "pattern of racketeering activity";

it is an entity separate and apart 1`Toa^ the ^^ttem of activity in which it engages.

'1`l^^ existence of an enterprise at all times remains a separate clerr^ent which miast

be proved by the Governneiito

(126) We have joined other Ohio courts of appeals in concluding that R.C. 2923.32

(the Ohio RICOAct) is lsatterrfled affter the Federal RxC^`'s Act, Section 1962, Title 18, U,SoCode.

,li`^ankddnS 2011-O1a1o-6802. Using the la^^guage in Turkette as a guide, in order to establish the

existence of an "enterprise" under 0-hio's RICO Act, there must be some evidence o1: (1) an

origol^g org.,anization, formal or aral`ssrmal_, (2) with associates that function as a contliiuang unit;

and (3) wath. a structure separate and apart, or distinct, from the ^attern. of corrupt activi.tr. Id.;

1:7n8ted States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 5 76, 583, 101 S.Ct. 2524, 69 L.Ed.2d 246 (19$1).
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[.We have] alsp'llecl l`urke,tte's evaluation of the existence of an "enterprise" in

determiralazg if the slefenr^ant;s conviction for engaging in a pattem of corrupt activity was

established by sufficient evidence. See State v. Ilumphrey, Clark- App. No. 02CA0025,

2003-Ohio--2825, €;" 34; State va Humphrey, Clark App. Nm.2002 CA 30,

20€13--Ohio-34015 J^ 41(selsarate appeals involving cousins and co-defendants involved ir:^

the same criminal "enterprise"); and State v. Fritz, 178 Ohio Appo3d 65,

2009--Ohio--4389. In fact, in the latter Humphrey decision, we specifically cited

7"urlette, noting that the evidence indicated the existence of an ongoing organization that

functioned as a continuing unit. 2003---Ohio ---3401, at ¶ 41. Subsequently, in Fritz, we

cited [State v.] Oiwen, [2d Dist. Miami No. 98 CA 17, 1999 WL 76826 (February 19,

1999),] and noted that we had prevaously s. oresol^ed cases questioning the exlsteltce of an

enterprise under the corrupt activity statute without reference to the federal

requirements.` " 2008--Ohas3---4389, at 1 48. Despite having made this statement, we did

use the fesleral. requirements in Fritz, when we he'id that the eviderice established the

existence of an enterprise, because it showed that the defendants had associated in an

ongoiitg argaraization. with a decision--maker and siipplker9 and a seller, and had also

functioned as a continuing unit. Id. at j; 51. State v, Franklin, at 1 94o

^^ ^^^ Expanding upon its holding 1nTr^rkette, the United State Stipreme Court in Boyle

v. United States. 556 U.S. 938,129 S.Ct. 2237, 173 Ll:;d.2d 1265 (2009)9 separated its inquiry

into three parts: whether the association must have a structure; whether the structure must be

"ascertalnalbie''y and whether the stracture must go b^^^^^d what is inherent in the pattern of

racketeering activity ^i which its members engage. Id. at 2244. The Court first concluded that
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an. association musthave at least three structural features: "a purpose, relationships aanong those

associated with the enterprise, and longevity sufficient to perngt thWse associates to 1,33irsue the

enterprise's purposes." Id. Next, the Court held that the word "ascertainable" was redundant

an.^: potentially mislea€1ing, because each el^^ient of ariy crime must be "ascertainable" in order

for the jury to find that the element has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt. I€^

[^[ 28) "Regarding the last part of the inquary5 the Supreme ^ouct reiterated its holding

in Turkette that `th^ existence of an enterprise is a separate element that must be proved.' Id.

The Court stressed, as it had in Tua^ketle, that 6the existence of an enterprise is an cIemerit distinct

from th^ pattern of racketeering activity and proof of one does not necessarily establish the

other.' 35 Id. at 2245, quoting Y'urkeate„ 452 IJ.S. at 583. Franklin, 201].-Ohiow6$02, at j; 97.

(1129) ln. Franklin, we concluded that "[w]e have fliever specifically rejected the

application of federal law, and, in fact, have both implledl,v and expressly applied federal law to

Ohio RICO cases when deciding questions of sufficiency of the evidence." Id. at 1 105.

Applying the definition of "enterprise" outlined in .T^rke^^e an.tl. Boyle, namely "an ongoing

organization with associates that function as a continuing unit with a stnicture separate and apart

from the 1Satterra of corrupt activity," we coiielude that the evid^^ice in the record before us is

insufficient to prove the "enterprise" element o1'engag€ng in a patteni ol'coa-rupt activity.

(1130) The evidence in the record establishes that B^ve-rl^r and lr^iher were ^.ctx^i^ in

concert when they engaged in the crime spree leading to these charges. But there is no evidence

in the record that Beverly and Imber were l^ivotved in any type of ongoing organization,

^inctgoning as a continuing unit, with a structure separate and apart from the pattem of corrupt
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activity. At best, bh^ evidence establishes that Beverly and Imber's actions were disorgaiifzed

and chaotic in the commission of the bt4rgIar^^s and theitse Accordingly, I3everly's conviction

for Engaging in a Pattem of Corrupt Activity is itot supported by sufficient evldeiicee His

addlt%on.al contention tt.at the conviction is against the manifest weight of fhe evldeilce is

therefore moot.

(^ 31) We also Pote that the trial court erred Nvhen it failed to instruct the jury properly

regarding the "enterprise" elerr^ent of engaging in a pattern of corrupt activity. The charge read

to th^jury only contained the statutory definition of "enterprise," Vhich is insufficient as a matter

of law. "".I'he definitions outlined in. Tu^^^^e and Boyle are pertln.ent and state the law

correctly." Fran^-̂-lan, 2011 -Ohio96802, at ^ 106. Thus, the trial court erred when it failed to

instruct thejur,y on "enterprise" using the definition contained in Turkette and Boyle.

11321 Beverly's Second Assignr^^^^^ of Error is sustained.

IV. Beverly's Convictions for Receiving Stolen Property and for 1^^.vfng

a Weapon While Under a Disability Should Have Merged, Since Both

Offenses Were Coa^sura^^^ted by the Same Act -- Possession of a Gun,

and Were Animated by the Same Animus -- His Desire to Possess a Gun

{¶ 331 Beverly's Thlyd Assignment of Error i s as follows:

TIIE TRIAL COUXT ERRED lK, FAILING TO IVIE^^E COUNTS 17 AND 18

OF DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION AS TIiOSl;' COUNTS CONSTIT'e_TT'F ALLIED

OFFENSES OF SIMILAR IMPORT.

1134) Beverly contends that the trial court erred wheii it failed to rrierge Counts 17 and
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18, which were the Receiving Stolen Property and Having a Weapon While Under a Disability

offenses. R.C. 234:.25s coaacemlng allied oftenses of similar lmpoM provides;

(A) Vvher^ the ^^ine coiirluct by defendant can be construed to constitute

two or inore allied o1'fenses of similar import, the indictment or information may

^^^itaan counts for all such offenses, but the defendant may be convicted of offly

one.

(B) Where the defendwit'^ conduct constitutes two or more offenses of

dissimilar import, or where his conduct resa^^ts in two or more. offenses of the

same or similar kind committed separately or with a separate animus as to each,

the indictment or lnfori-natitsn may ^ontai^^ counts for all such offenses, and. the

defendant may be convicted of all oftl^emo

IT35} In State v. a1ohn,ron, 128 Ohio St.3d 153, 201 0-OhioT631 44 942 N.E.2d 1061, the

Supreme Cotirt of Ohio revisited the analysis courts should use in dete:rnlni^^ whether offenses

are allied offenses of similar import. Johnson over.ruledRS'late v. Rance, 85 Ohio S0d 632, 710

N.E.2d 699 (1999) "to the extent that it calls for a comparison of^tatutory elements solely in the

abstract under R.C. 2941.25." Johnson at ¶44. Now, "[w]hen determlniz^g 'whether two offenses

are allied offenses of similar import subject to merger under R.C. 2941.25, the conduct of the

accused must be cotisadered." I^

ftl 36) Johnson states that "the intent of the General Assembly is controlling." Id. at

^'^6. "We determine the Geperal Asseflnblw's intent by applying R.C. 2941.25, which expressly

instructs courts to coflislder the offenses at issue in light of the defendant's conduct." Id. '1he

trial court must determine prior t€^ sentencing whether the a-ffenses were committed by the same
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conduct. 'F'h^ ^^ial court is no longer required to perfortn hypothetical or abstract comparisons of

he offenses at issue in order to conclude that the rsffeiises are subject to merger. Id. at T,,47 "In

determining whether offenses are allied offenses of s;mida.r import u^^der R.C. 294I.25(A.), the

question is whether it is possible to commit one offense and comiralt the other with the same

conduct, not whether it is possible to commit one without committing the other. Iftheol^-'enses

correspond to such a degree that the conduct of the defendant constituting commission of one

offense carastatutes corgtmlsslora of the oth.er; then #he offienses are of similar import." Id. at ^48.

(Emphasis in original, and internal citation omitted).

(^( 37} "If the multiple offenses can be committed by the same conduct, then the court

must determine whether the afTenses were committed by the same conduct, i.e., xa single a,cg,

committed with a single state of mittd.FSF Id. at 149 (citation omitted). "If the wiswer to both

questions is yes, then the offenses are allied offenses of similar import ars.d will be merged." Id. at

^50. "Conversely} if the court deterinlnes that the commission of one offense will never result in

the commission of the other, or if the offenses are committed separately, or if the defendant has

separate an.imus for each offense, then, according to R.C. 2941.25(B), tta^ offenses will not

merge." HfA ^j 5l. o(Emph.asis in original.)

111381 Beverly's conduct in taking possession of the firear^ completed both offenses.

'I'o be stare, each offense has additional elemmts. The Receiving Stolen Property o^`ense has the

additional element of "°1^^owing or having reasonable cause to believe that th^ propert.v [was]

obtained throtigh the ^onimgss€on of a the^`^ offense." R.C. 2913.51(A). The Having a Weapon.

While Under a Disability offense has the additional element that the o^'ender must be under

aradlctmeilt or have been convicted of a xelaa^y offense of violence. R.C. 2923al,4.(.^)^2). tirader



16

State v. Rance, supra, these would not be allied offenses, because each contains an element not

contained by the other.

('^ ^^) State v. Johmwaz, supra, overruled Rance, with its elements-of-the-offense based

analysls, replacing it with an analysis based on the defendant's conduct. In Johnson, the

Supr^^^e Court recognized that the allled-^offenses statute sets forth the defendant's conduct as

the basis for analysis, not the elements of the offensesa State v. Johnson, at ; 44. Here,

Beverly's conduct in taking possession of the firearm consummated his commission of both

offenses.

{140} The next step of the analysis is to detenn1ne wliether Beverly committed the two

offenses with a separate animus as to eac1i. R.C. 2941.25(B). We conclude that he did not.

(1411 Tl^^ Supreme Court of Ohio has interpreted the term "animus" to mean "purpose

or, more properly, immediate motive." Sla,te v. Logan, 60 Ohio St.2d 126, 131, 397 N.E.2d

1345 (1979); see also, e.g., Stzate v. Smith, 7tli Dist. Mahoning No. 1 I MA 120, 2013-^Oh1on756,

1 89; State v. Haa^^^^tkg, '3d Dist. Auglaize No. 2m12LLl4, 2013-Oh1o-643, T, 14; State v. Ccawan, 8th

Dist. Cuyahoga No. 97877, 2012-OhloT5723, 1[ 37; State v. LaPrairie, 2d Dist. Cyreene No.

201Q-CA.-09, 2011mOhflos21 84, 141.. "Like all mental states, animus is often difficult to prove

directly, but must be inferred from the surrounding eircumst'.apces. Where an €xidivldual}s

immediate motive involves the commission of one offense, but in the course of coflnmittilig that

crime he must, A priori, commit another, then he may well possess but a single animus, and in

that event may be convicted of only one crlme " Logan at 13 1. "If the defendant acted with the

same purpose, intent, or rnotave in both instances, the animus is gdeflitlcal for both offenses."

State v. Lewis, l2,th Dist. Clinton No. CA2008-10-045, 2012-Ohlo-885,113.
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{142} The evidence established that Beverly came into possession of a gun; the gun

was stolen, and Beverly was not allowed to possess it due to ^^^gal disability. However, there is

nothing to suggest that Beverly possessed the gun with distinct motives both to have a stolen gun

and to have one while under disability; he simply wanted to possess a gun. The o1ferises

occurred simultaneously and, based upon the evidence in the record, one offense did not

temporally precede or extend beyond the other. Compare State v. Brown, 3d Dist. Allen No.

1-12-33, 2013-Ohie-854, ^ 18 (defendant's possession of lirea.rra after committing bu.rglab°gr

demonstrated separate animus for having weapon while under disability); State v. Young, 2d Dist.

Montgomery No. 23642, 2011-Ohia-747 (having a ^eapo^i while under disability, carr^^no, a

concealed weapon, and illegal possession of a lirear±n in a liquor permit premises d°ad. not merge,

where defendwit acquired the weapon prior to concealing it, and then later brought it iiito a liquor

estahlishmegat}; State v. B.ray, 2d. Dist. Clark No. 2010 CA 14, 2011 -Ohio-4660, T 23 (same)o

11431 The circumstances here are analogous to those in State v. Fairfield, 8th Dist.

Cuyahoga No. 97466, 2012-Ohiom5060, in which a deferadai-it was charged with multiple counts

of Possession of a Dangerous, Ordnance, 1 âossessacsra of Criminal Tools, and Receiving Sto1er,

Property, amoilg other charges. These charges arose froira the defendant's possession of shock

tubes, detonation cords, blasting caps, and an actuator, all of which were explosive devices that

had been stolen from the Uhited. States government while the defendant was in the Arrny. The

trial court merged "the category of offenses for the items that were the same. For instance, the

court merged all of the counts for possession of a dangerous ordnance regga.rding the four

detonation cords. 11owever, the court then aiso sentenced Fairfield for possession of criminal

tools and receiving stoZen. propert-v regarding the same cords." .1d. at ^j,, 26o
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{l( 441 On ap^eal, the Eighth DisLxlct Court of Appeals held that the defendant's

offenses of Possession of Criminal 'I'ooZs} Possession of a Dailgerotis Ordnance, and Receiving

Stolen Property were allied offenses of slinilar import. The court noted that, under Johns€an,

"[o]ur -focus is now whetlier it is possible for the offenses to be committed by the sa,n^ conduct."

.^ei. 'nie coud concluded that defendant's "receiving the stolen property in the instant case,

results in him also unlawf1illy possessing a dangerous ordnance and possessing a criminal tool."

Id. The court then concluded tliat tr^^ defendant had not acted with a separate animus in

committli;l^ each offense. The court stated: "Here, there is no indication that Fairfield was

acqugrlnc, the materials for separate ptirposes} or had a separate liiterflt or motive in having the

materials. 'fherefore, the offenses were all committed with the same animus." Id, at 28. The

court concluded that, "under the facts of this case, possession of a dangerous ordnatice,

possession of criminal tools, and receiving stolen property are allied offenses of similar import

that must be rraerged."' Id. at ¶ 29.

{Iff 45} In this case, Beverly possessed a stolen gun while he was under a legal disability

from doiiig so. His immediate motive was to possess a guti. There ls, no indication that Beverly

1iad multiple purposes that would distinguish his having a weapon while under disability from

receiving stolen property. T'he facts that this particular giin was stolen and that Beverly 'AYas

un.der disability whe'^i he got the gun simply resulted in the State's ability to charge him witb.

multlple offenses as a result of Beverly's possession of the gun; it did riot create a separate

animus.

______________

T€ae State appealed a-rd nsked Yh-e Suprear e`ouYc of O}aio to xmew anriaetherr I'assessiar_ o: aDangernnss Ordnan.ce

and Receiviag Stolen P'rr3perty weTe aElied rffer.sea ofsim-slar iaaaport, 'f"nr. Supreane Cceart declined to a^rspf ^uraa^ic^4a7 s1a0a

v.1 "ai?fitlx3 &€;t, Nu, 2017-21333, 20I3-Ohio-902 (Tw1axr,h 13, 2.'^,3.3).
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^^ ^^^ Because the two offenses were not committed each with a separate anPmaxs, the

trial court erred when it failed to merge them for sentencing pu-Toses. Beverly's Third

Assignment of Error is sustained.

V. The 66Y2-year Sentence Imposed i.n this Case

Constitutes an Abuse of Discretion

fl 47} Beverly's Fourth and Fifth assignments of error are as fol lows;

'I`HE TRIAT, COU-R"I' ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING A

SFN'I'EIwlC-^ OF C 6;{ YEARS f:)NI`I HE DEFENDANT.

THE `IRIAL COURT ERRED IN, IMPOSINCi A SENTENCE LTPON 'I'IIE

DEI'^NDANI'I' TIIAT WAS NOT ^OtNSIS'I'ENT WITTI SENTENCES I`OR. SIMILAR

CRIMES COMMTI°I`ED BY SIMIII/AR. OFFENDERS.

N 48} In his Fourth l§,ssggnment of Error, Beverly contends that the trial court a^bused

its d°ascret%on. when it sentenced him to 661/2 years in prasori. In his Fifth AssBgiirnea^t oI`Error9

Beverly contends that the trial court's imposition of an aggregate sentence of 66'lz years is error,

because his co-deI`endant, Imber, p-eceived a significantly shorter sentence for esseiitiatly the sanie

conduct ^

^T149) In&ate v. Barhr„ 2d Dist. MontgometyNoo 22779, 2009-Ohio^3511., atT,,, 36-37,

we stated:

« 'Tize trial court has fiiII discretion. to impose any sentence within the

2 After pIead€^^ g04 to ten fourthadegree telony offenses, the firial court
sentenced Imber to thirteen and one-haIf years In prlson.



20

authorized statutory range, and the court is not required to make any findings or

give its reasons for imposing maximum, consec^.tiveY or more tha.n the minimum

sentences. State v. Foster, 109 Ohio St.3d 1, * * * 2€106-Ohlok 855, at paragraph

7 of the syllabus. Neverthcless5 in exercislnc, its discretion the trial court must

coiisider the statutory policies that apply to every felony offense, including those

set out in R.C. 2929.11 an.d. 2929a1.2. State v. Mathis, 10€3 Ohio St.3d. 54, * * *

2006-Ohio-855, at 37.1 SP State v. Ulrich, 2d Di.st. ^ontgor^^ry No. 23737,

2011-Oh1om7584 at ^j 20-21. "[E]ven if there is no specific mention of [R.C.

2929,11 and R.C. 2929.12], 'l:t is presumed that the tTlal couft gave proper

consideration to those stat€ates.2 " State vo Hal19 2d Dlst. Clark No. 10-CA-23.

20119Ohio-635, T, 5 1.

(If 50) " xWhen reviewing felony sentences, an appellate court must first determine

whether the sentencing court complied with all applicable rules and statutes in imposing the

sentence, 1€icluding R.C. 2929.11 and 2929.12, in order to find whether the sentence is contTar;r

to law. State v. Kalish, 120 Ohio St.3d 23, * * * , 2008-OhioT4912o If Llie sentence is not clearly

and corivinclngly contrary to law, the trial court's decision in imposing the terrn of imprisonment

must be reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. ld.' y" State v, tfirich, 'Lld Dist.

Montgontery No. 23737, 2011-Ohi€a-758, at 22. Beverly's sentence is not contrary to law.

We therefore review his serrtence under an abuse-af-discretion standard.

{1[ 51.1 Since at least 1940, innumerable Ohio cases have stated that an abuse of

discretion "means more than agl error of law or judgment," which lncorrect1ly implies that a trial

court may ^omrnlt an error of law without abusing its discretion. State i^ Bowresr 2d Dist.
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^ont^ommy No. 23€3370 201O-O1iio-278, ^( 15, citation omitted. To the contrary, "I_n]o court -

not a trial court, not an appellate court, nor even a supreme court --- has the authority,o within its

discretion, to commit an error of law." Id. at T 26. The abusemof- dl scretion standard is more

accurately defined as " G [a]rs appellate court's standard for reviewing a decision that is asserted to

be grossly uiisound, unreasonable, illegal, or u:^supporte-d by the evidence,' " .^^. at T, 18, quoting

Black's Laikr Dictionary, Eighth. Edition (2004), at 11.

11521 Upon sentencing Beverly, the trial court stated the followirig as its apparent

rationale for imposing the sentence it ordered;

By my calculations, all of your crimes, there is [sic] fifteen distinct victims

and thc-it doesn't even include households that are occupied by more than one

person.

Nor does it include the law enforcement officers whose health and safety

and lives you put at r^^^ while you were fleeing; nor does that include the women

and children in these homes that you burglarized that no longer have a sense of

security in their own homes.

Nor does that take into ^onsieleratioii probably the hundreds maybe even

thousands ^^^ours ol`t^^e and effort spent by our local Iaw en^^,^rcerr^ent agegicles,

tracking dowrf, all the property that you stole from people, organizing it, to

return it to the rightful owners.

The Court is going to order that ^ow-qts 1, 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 18, 21, 22,

23, 24, [and] 25 run. consecutively to one ariothera

'I'he Court is going to order t(iat Counts 2, 3, 5, 11, 16, 17, and 19 run
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consecutively to one another but concurrent with the previous list of counts that I

mentioned.

"I^e aggregate sentence by flny calculations will be s1xty-srx and one-half

years (66 1/2 years) in the Ohio State Penitentiary.

IfTi 53} A pre-seratence investigation report was not prepared in this case. At se^^ex-ic1ng,

the State in^^i-ineal the trial court on the record of Beverly's criminal record, dating back to

when he was thirteen years old. The State also noted that at the time of his arrest and lr#d.ictment

in this case, Beverly was under iradlctmeng %-o. a separate case for manufacturing drugs.

^^ 441 In ori#l^ia^^; the reasons for the sentence it imposed, the trial court dl^. not

mention Beverly's prior criminal history. Instead, the trial court noted the number oI'households

victimized, the number oI'people whose personal property was stolen or damaged, and the loss of

a sense of security by his victims, which was compromised as a result of Beverly's crimes.

tVhale these considerations were proper, the trial court also sought to justify Beverly's lengthy

sentence by iioting that law enforcement officers put in {`hun.dreds[J maybe even ttar^^^ands[J of

hours oI"tlrrge and effort" sper^^ by law enifor^^^ent agencies %zi. investigating and tTacklng down

all of the property stolen, organizing it, and ta-yirag to returti :said property to its rightfuI owners.

We coneltade that the amount of police work involved should not have I'ormed. a basis to increase

Beverly's sentence. The police officers, detectives, and other law enforcement officials

l^ivalved were performlng their respective jobs conducting the iflivest1gation, cataloguing, an.d

retrieving the items stolen by Beverly aaid 1^iber.

{¶ 551 Fortunately, none of the victims suffered any physical injury. Although the
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anger, fear, and disturbances experienced by the victims may properly be considered, there is

nothing in the record to suggest t-hat these psychological injuries were qualitatively greater than

those predictably experienced by any victim of a burglary, or that the victims are unlikely to

overcome these effects within a reasonable period of time. We also note tlZ-cit the lack of a

pre-seaatence investigation report in a case of this nature makes at harder to fashlr^n. a sentence

consistent with the statutory senaenclng factors and guidelines found in R.C. 2929.11 and

2929.12.

fT^, 56} We do not seek to minimize the crimgraalitv of Beverly's actions and the wrong

daiie to liis victims. Nevertheless, treating this case as if these crimes were the most serious

forms of the offenses, and treating Beverly as if he were the most depraved of offenders, is not

supported by the evidence in the record. The imposition of the 66^'^-^ear sentence in this case

deprecates the validity of similar harsh sentences in those cases that truly merit them. As

Justice Lanzlnger h^s wrltten.e "[flt is a rare victim who does not coiislder tlle crime committed by

an offender to be undeserving of a maximum p^^ial#,y. * * * It will take a courageous judge not to

`max and stack' every seriten€:e in multlple-count cases.'S &ate v. Hairston, 118 Ohio St.3d 289,

2008-Ohlo-2338, 888 N.E.2d 1.£173, at T,31 (Lanzinger, J., ^oncur°lng).

fT 571 Finally, Beverly argues that his co-d^^^ndanty Imber, who plead gulity, received a

more lenient sentence. Specifically, Ta^^^^ entered guilty pleas to ten foulth-deg°^e felony

offenses and received an aggregate sentence of thirteen and. oneahall' years in prison, less tl^an a

quarter of the sentence Beverly received. ^Vtate v. .Imber, 2d Di-st. Clark-. No. l.l. CA 0063,

2012mOhlos372. Although there is no information in the record to indicate whether hnber had a

prior record, the evidence in. -the record established that Imber was equally culpable with Beverly
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regarding the s,barved. of.6enses. On this record, a disparity of over 50 years suggests the

appearance of a trial tax, whereby one reason for Beverly's much harsher seite-o.^e was that he

exercised his right to a jury trial.

(1158) We conclude that although Beverly's sentence is not contrary to law, the

eVsd.ence in the record does not justify the lengthy sentence imposed hereBa^, Accordingly, we

conclude that the trial court abused its discretion when it imposed a sentence of 66^'^ years in this

c^se.

{4[ 591 Beverly's Fourth Assignment of Error is sustained; his Fifth AssignmerFt of Error

is overruled as moot.

VIa Conclusion

^T, 601 Beverly's First Assignment of Error having been averruled; his Second, Third

and Fourth assignments of error having been sustained; aiid his Fifth Assignment of Error having

been overruled as moot, his conviction arid sentence for Engagiflig in a Pattern of Corrupt

Activity is 1Zever;^ed and Vacated; his sentence is Reversed; and this cause isRemanded fbr the

merger of the Receiving Stolen Property and 1-1av1^g a Weapon Wlille l;ncier a Disability

convictions and for r^-sent^ncin.g,

FROEI.,IC1-1, J., concurs.

DONOVAN, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part:

{l^ 611 1 disagree solely with the majority's resolution of the third assignment of error

regarding rnerger of the Receiving Stolen Property and Having a Weapon 'Whil^ Under a
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Disability offenses. Beverly acquired the legal disability that prevents him from possessing a

firearm long before he came into possession of this stolen gun. The Weapons EJnder Disability

statiate punishes Beverly for his own past conduct as well as his current conduct.

(Iff 62) Furthermore, the gravamen of the recel^^ng-, stolen property charge is the

acquisition of a stoler^ gun which necessitates a mens rea distinct from acquiring of a gun while

under legal disability. iNon-merger in this case would not run afs9u1 of the General Assernblygs

Anterat uiider R.C. 2923.13 to protect the general public from "bad risks" such as Beverly from

having a weapon. Nor would it offend the purliose of R.C. 2941.25 to prevent shotgun

convictions.
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EXHIBIT 4



Ohio Revised Code 2923.31
Corrupt activity definitffonsa

As used in sections 2923.3 1 to 2923.3 6 of the Revised Code:

(A) "Beneficial interest" means ai<y of the following:

(1) The interest of a person as a beneficiary under a trust in which the trustee holds title to
personal or real property;

(2) The interest of a person as a b^^eficimy under an.^ other trust arrangement under which
any other person. holds title to pers^nal or real property for the 'I7en.efit of such person;

(3)`1'he interest of a person under any other form of express fiduciary arrangement under
which any other person holds title to personal or real property for the bor^efi.t of such per^om

"Benefic€al interest" does not include the iraterest of a stockholder in a corporation. or the iaitcrest
of a partner in either a general or limited partnership.

(B) "Costs of investigation and prosecution" and "costs of investigation and litigation" mean. al_I.
of the costs incurred by the st-€te or a county or municipal corporation under sections 2923.31 to
2923.36 of the Revised Code in the prosecution and investl.gatas^^ of any crimlnal. action or in the
xitigation. ^^ investigation of any action, azid includes, but is notlimlteci to, ^.^.e costs of
resources and personnel.

(C) "Enterprise" includes any indlvidua1., sole prolsrietorsliip, partnership, limited partriership,
corporation, trust, uniaii, ^^^ernmetit ^^ency, or other legal entity, or any organization,
association, or group of persons associated in fact a;l:tb-oug1^ not a legal entity. "Enterprise"
includes illicit &s well as licit enterprl.ses,

(D) "Innecent persoan." inel^ides any bona fide purchaser of property that is a1egedly involved ira
a Niolatlon of section 2923.32 of ttae Revised Code, including any person who establishes a vaI.id
cl.alrn to or interest in the property in accordan.ce with division (E) of section 2981.04 of the
Revised Code, and any victlni of an alleged violation of -that section or of any underlying offense
ztivolved in an Mleged violatzon. of that section.

(E) "^attem. of comipt activity" rneans two or more incidents of corrupt activity, whether or not
there has been a prior corAv%ction, that are related to the affairs of the same enteaprise , are not
isolated, and are not so closely related to each other and connected in time and place that they
constitute a single event.

At least one of the incidents for^^g the pattem shall occur on or after January 1, 1986. Unless
any incident was mi aggravated niurder or mardero the last of the incidents forrralng the pattem
^bal1 occur wi.tb.in six years after the commission of any prior incident fornikn. g the patterrz,
excluding any period of imprisonment served by ar-y person engaging in ^^e corrupt activity.

EXHIBIT 4



For th.^ purposes of the criminal ^ena.I-4i^s that m^.;r be imposed pursuant to section 2923.32 of
the Revised Code, at least one of the incidents forrn^^ the pattern shall constitute a, felony under
the laws of this state in ^^^^^^^^e at the time itwas commltted or, if committed in violation of the
laws of the United States or of any t^^^^^ state, shall constitute a felony under the law of the
1Jnited. States or the other state and would be a, criminal offense under the law of this state if
committed in this state.

(F) GCPecami^^y value" means money, a negotiable instrument, a commercial interest, or anythan g
of value, as defined 1n. section 1.03 of the Revised Code, or any o^^.^er property or service that has
a value in excess of one hund.red dollars.

(G) "Person" means a;,^^ person, as defined in section 1a59 ^^the Revised. Code, and. ^^^
gov^m-niental officer, ^inp1oyee, or entity.

(:fJ) "Personal property" means any personal property, any i^^^erest iin. personal property, or any
right, including, but not liniited toy bank accounts, debts, corporate stocks, pecents, or copyrights.
Personal property and any beneficial interest in personal property are deemed to be located
where the trustee of the property, the personal property, or the in^^innent evidencing fne right is
located.

(1) "Corrupt activity" means eiigaging in, attempti.ng to engage in , to engage in, or
soliciting, coerc1ng, or intlniidati^^ another person to engage ^^ any o.^the follo,%kring:

(1) Conduct d.efined as "racketeer^i-ng actgvgty^' under the "Organized Crime ^ontro1A^t of
1970," 84 Stat. 941, 18 U.S.C. 1961(l)(B), (1)(C), (1)(D), and (1)^^^, as ainciid.ed,

(2) Conduct constituting anl, of the following:

(a) A violation of section 1.3I5.55 o 1322.02, 2903.01, 2903.02, 2903.03, 2903,04,
2903.11, 2903.12, 2905.01, 2905.02, 2905.11„ 2905.22, 2905.32 as specified in division
(1)^2^^^^ of this section., 2907.321, 2907.322, 2907.323, 2909.02, 2909.03, 2909.22,
2909.23" 2909.24, 2909.26, 2909.27, 2109.28" 2909.29, 2911.01, 2911.02, 2911.11,
2911.12, 2911.13, 2311031, 2913.05, 2913.06, 2921.02, 2921.03, 2921.04, 292 1.11,
2921.12, 2921.32, 2921.41, 2921.42, 2921.43, 2923 .12, or 2923e1;; division (F)(1)(a)s
(b), or (c) of section 1 31 5.53; division (A)(1) or (2) of section 1707.042; d.i-^Ylslon (B),
(Q(4)^ (D), (E), or (F) o:^^^ction 1707.44; division (A)(1) or (2) ol"^^^^on 2923.20;
division (E) or (G) s^^section 3772.99; division (.1)(1.) o1`section 4712.02; section
4719.02a 4719.05, or 471.9.06; division (C), (D), or (E) of sectiorl. 4719.07 ; section
4719.08; or division (A) of section 4719.09 of the Revised Code.

(b) Any violation of section 3769.11, 3769.15, 3769.16, or 3769.19 of the Revzsed. Code
as it ex;sted prior to Jialy 1, 1996" any viol.ataon. ol`section 2915.02 a^^the Revised Code
that occurs on or after Jul_y 1, 1996, and that, had it ^^curred prior to that date„ woadd
have been a violation of section 3769.11 of the:lIevised Code as it existed Draar to that
date, or an.y violation of section 2915.05 of the Revised Code t-lrat occurs on or after July

2



1, 1996, and tl;ato had it ^^curred prior to that date, would have been a violation of
section 3769.15, 03769.1 6, or 3769.19 of the Revised Code as it existed prior to that date.

(c) Any violation of sectioan. 2907.21., 2907.22, 2907.31, 29 1 3.02, 2913.117 29l 3e2 1,
2913031, 2913.32, 291-.340 2913.42x 2913.47, 2913.51,2g15o03y 292.5.03, 2925.04,
2925.05, or 2925.37 of the Revised Code, any violation ofsectzon 2925.11 of the
Re-visecl Code that is a felony ol`the first, second, third, or 1`^urtb, degree and, that occurs
on or after ^l=taly 1, 1996, any violation. of section 2915.02 of the Revised Code tb.et
occurred prior to July 1, 1996, any violation of section 2915.02 of the Revised Code that
occurs on or after July 1. 1996, and that, had it occurred prior to that date, would not
have been a violation of section 3 769.11 of the Revised Code as it existed prior to that
date, any violation of section 2915.06 of the Revised Code as it existed prior to July 1,
1996, or any violation of slivision. (13) of section 2915.05 of the Revised Code as it exists
on and after July 1, 1996, when the proceeds of the violation, the payments made in the
violation, the amount of a claim for payment or for any other benefit that is false or
deceptive and that is involved in the violation, or the value o 1'tbe contraband or other
pbo-oortgr illegally possessed, sold, or purchased in tl-ie violation exceeds one thousand
dolIars, or any combination o1°violations described in division (1)(2)(c) of this section
when the total proceeds of the combiiiatlon of violations, pay•rrflents made in the
^ombinatzon. of violations, amount of the claims for payment or for other benefits tber, is
false or ciecepti^e and that is involved in the combination of violations, or value of the
contraband or other property illegally possessed, sold, or purchased in the c:oraibinatlon
of violations exceeds one thousand dollars;

(d) Any violation of section 5743.112 of the Revised Code wb.en the amotmt of unpaid
tax exceeds one hundred dollars;

(e) Any violation or combination of violations ol'section 2907.32 of the Revised Code
involvi^^^ any material or performance containing a display of bestiality or of sexual
conduct, as defmed in section 2907.01 of the Revised Code, that is explicit and depicted
with clearly visible penetration of the genitals or clearly visible penetration by the penis
of aiiy orifice when the total proceeds of the violation or comb%.^iatzon of violations, ib.e
payments made in the violation or combination of violations, or the value ol`tlie
contraband or other property z1l^gal3.y possessed, sold, or purcb.ased in the violation or
comblnation of violations exceeds one thousand dollars;

(f) ,r^^y combination of violations described in davlsion. (1)(2)(c) orthis section ar^d
violations of section 2907.32 o1'tb.^ Revised Code involving any material or
perfo^rn^^^ containing a display of bestiality or of sexual conduct, as defined in section
2907.01 aftlse Revised Code, that is explicit an.d. depicted Nvitb clearly visible
penetreLlon of the genitals or clea.rly visible penetration by the perzs of any orifice When
the toW proceeds of the combination of violations,1,^ayments made in tb.e combination
of violations, amount of the claims for payment or for other benefits that is false or
deceptive and that is involved in. the ^om. binatioai of vlolatlo -ns, or value of the
coratrab^id or other property illegally possessed, sold, or purchased in the combination
of violations exceeds one tlious^id dollars;



(g) Any violation of s^ctirs^i 2905.32 of the Revised Code to the extent the violation is
not based solely on the same conduct that corbstitutes corr<^^t activity pursuant to
division (1)(2)(c) of this section due to the conduct being in violation of section 2907.21
of the Revised Code.

(3) Conduct constituting a violation of msy law of any state oth.er than this state that is
subs-tantia.1y similar to the conduct described in division (I)(2) of this section, provided the
defendant was convicted €^^^^^ ^ondtict in a criminal proceedliig in the oflier state;

(4) Anhnal or ecological terrorasm;

(5)

(a) Conduct constituting any of the folloNxinge

(1) Organized retail theft;

(ii) Conduct that constitutes ogie or more violations of any law of any state other than
this state o that is substantially similar to organized retO theft, and that if committed
in this state would be organlzed. retail theft,1f the defendant was convicted of or
pleaded guilty to the conduct in. a criminal proceeding, in the other state.

(b) By enacting divlsior .̂^ (I)(5)(a) of this s^^tirsiis it is the intent of the general assembly
to add organized retail theft and the conduct described in dlvision. (1)(5)'(a)(11) of this
section as conduct constituting corrupt activity. "L"^^ ^nact^^^^ of division (I:)(5)(a) of
this section and the addition by division (1)(5)(a) of tWs section of organized retail theft
and the conduct described in division (1)(5)(a)(ii) of this section as conduct constituting
corrupt acthraty does not limit or preclude, and shall not be construed as li-m.itlng or
precluding, any prosecution for a violation of section 292' ).^^ ^^^e Revised Code that
is based on one or more violations of section 2913.02 or 2913.51 of the Revised Code,
oxae or more similar ofifenses under flae laws of this state or any other state, or any
combiraation. of any of those violations or similar o^"erases, even thoug1i the conduct
constituting the basis for those violations or ^fl'enses could be ^on, stnied as also
constituting organized retail theft or conduct of the type described in division
(1)(5)(a)(ii) of this section.

(J) "Real property" ^^earis ariy real property or any interest in real property, lncludl-ng, but not
limited to, any lease of, or mortgage upoii, real property. Real property and any beneficial
interest in it is deemed to be located where the real property is located.

(K) "•Truatee" means any of the following:

(1) Any person acting as trustee urider a trust in which the trustee holds title to personal or
real property;
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(2) Any Peasan who holds title to person%I or real property for which any other person has a
^enefcial interest;

(3) Any successor trustee.

bs•I'rustee's does not include an assignee or trustee for aii ansalveiit debtor or an executor,
administrator, ^^inis^^^^^^r with the will annexed, testamentary Ixustee, guardian, or committee,
appointed bv, under the control ofo or accountable to a court.

(L) "Unlawful debt" mean.s any money or ot1^^^ thing of -value constituting ^rincipal or interes^ of
a debt that is legally aanen-t^^^cable in this state in whole or in part b=ause the debt,%vas incurred
or contracted in violation of any federal or state law relating to the buslgiess s^^gambling activity
or relating to the business of lending money at an usurious rate unless the- creditor proves, by a
preponderance of the evidence, that the usurious rate was not intentionally set and that it resulted
from. a good faith error by the creditor, notwithstanding the maintenance ol`pr^^edures that were
adopted by the creditor to avoid an error o^that nature.

(M) "Aninaal activity" means any activity that, involves the use of a -namals or animal parts,
including, but not limited toy hunting, fishing, trappiiig, traveling, camping, the productioll,
^^^par-ation, or processing of ^bod or food products, clothing or garment manufacturing, medical
research, other research, enterta^^^^nt ^ec^eation, agriculWre, biotechnology, or service activity
^.^at involves the use of animals or animal parts.

(N) s6A^^ma1. facility" means a vehicle, building, str.ucture, nature preserve, or other premises in
w}iie^ an animal is lawfully kept, handled, housed, exhibited, bred, or o5exed for sale., including,
but iia# 1iinited to, a zoo, rodeo, circus, amus^^^ii^ park, hunting preserve, or premises in which
a lioxse or dog event is held.

(0) "Ani-m.al or ecological terrorism" means the commission of any felony that involves causing
or creating a substantial risk of physical 1ia^^ to any property of another, the use of a deadly
weapon or dan.gerous ordnance, or purposely, knowingly, or recklessly causing serious physical
harm to property and ^hat involves an intent to obstruct, impede, or deter any person from
participatiiig in a lawfii1 animal ac^ivity,l"rom mining, forestingo hanresving, gatherbng, or
processing natural resources, or from being 1a". i1ly present in or on ^^ animal facility or
research facility.

(P) "Researeli facility" means a place, laboratory, instit.gtion* med^caI care facility, government
facility, or public or private. educational institution in wbzch a scientific test, experiment, or
investigation involving the use of animals or other living organisms is lawfully carried ol-it,
conducted, or attempted.

(Q) "Organized retail thell" means It-he theft of retail property wi^i a retail value of one thousand
dollars or more Iiom one or more retail establishments with the iiitent to sell, deliver, or Yra-n.sfe^
that ^^^^ertv to a retail ^^^peirty fence.
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Reta.ai property" means any tangible persogtal property displayed, holdy stored, or offered for
sale in or by a retail establishment.

(S) "Ratail property fence" meam a person who possesses, procures, receives, of conceals retail
property that -,,vas represented to the peA•sotz as being stolen or that the person know;s or believes
to be stolen.,

(T) "Retail value" -means the f.i.li. retail value of the ^^tO property. In deter€^in.ing whether the
reLail. value of retail property equals or exceeds one thousand do1larsz the value of all retail
property stolen from. the retail establisliment or r^taii establishments by the same person or
persons within any oncnhundred-eighty-day period sh.all be aggregated.
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EXHIBIT 5



Ohio Revised Code 29239^^
Engaging in pattern of corrupt activity<

(A)

(l) No person employed by, or associated with, any enterprise shall conduct or participate in,
darectly or indirectly, the affi.ar.s of'^e enterprise through a pattem of corm^t acthrity or the
collection of an. uziIa^ ful debt.

(2) No person, through a pattem of comy^t activity or the collection. of an uril.awfial debt,
shall acquire or maintain, directly or andlrectly, an^^r interest in, or control of, any enterprise
or real property.

(3) No person, who 1no-vvingly has received any proceeds derived, directly or indirectly, from
a patt^^ of corrupt activity or the collection of any wilawful debt, shall use or irnvest, directly
or indirectly, any part of those proceeds, or any proceeds derived from t;^e use or ^n-ves#ment
of any of those proceeds, in. the acquisition of aiiy title to, or any right, interest, or equity in,
real property or in the establislni^iit or operation of any enterprise.

A purchase of securities on the open market witli intent to m^.l^.e an investment, without intent to
corat.rol or participate in the control ssl`z^^ issuer, and without intent to assist atiotlaer -to do so is
not a violation of this division, if the securities of the issuer held after the purchase by the
purchaser, the rr€embers of the purchaser's immediate family, and the purchaser's or the
iw-m^^^^e fain11^ members' accrsrnpiices in any pattem of corrupt activity or the collection of an
unlawful debt do not aggregate one per cent of the outstanding securities of any one class of the
issuer and do not confer, in law or zn. fact, the power to elect one or more directors of the issuer.

(B)

(1) Whoever violates tlj€s sectaoi-i is guilty of engaging in a pa^^^ of corrupt activity. Except
as otherwise provided in this division, engaging in cormpt activity is a felony of the second
degree. Except as otherwise provided in this division, if at least one of the incidents of
c^s^^t ^.ctlvgt-^ is a felony of thefirstj second, or tWrd degree, aggravated murder, or mtirder,
if at least one of th.^ incidents was a fel^^v -under the ha^ of this state that was committed
prior to July 19 1996, and that would cons^itute a felony of tl-ie first, second, or 'third degree,
aggravated mua°dor, or murder if coriimi^ed on or after JuEv 1, 1996, or if at least oz^e of the
incidents of corrupt activity is a felony under the law of t1;e l^iiited States or of another state
that, if committed in. this state san, or after Jtaly 1, 1996, would constitute a felony of the first,
seca^^id, or x}ia;.d degree, aggravated murder, ormurdea^ under the law of this state, ^^gagging in
a patter^ of cornipt activlty is a feloiiv of the first degree. If the offender also is convicted of
or pleads giiilty to a specification as described in section 2941,1422 of the Revised C;ode that
'wa^ included in the indictment, count in the indictment, or information charging the offense,
engaging in a pattem of corraipt activity is a felony of -the first degree, and the court shall
sentence the offender -t^ a mm-idatoa-y prison term as provided in division (B)(7) of section
2929a l4 of the Revised Code ai2d shall order the offender to maker^stitut^^n as provided in
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division (13)(8) of section 2929.18 of the Revised Code. Notwithstanding any other provision
of law, a person rnay be convicted of violating the provisions of tili^ ^^ctl.o.ri as well as of a
conspiracy to violate one or more of those provisions under sectzon. 2923 o0l. of the Revised
Code.

(2) Notwithstanding the fmmcla.l sanctions au^^^^ed by section 2929.18 of theRevlsed
Code, the court may do all of the following with respect to any persorvwilr.o derives pecuniary
value or causes property damage, personal ^^j ury other than. pain and suffering, or other loss
^.^ough or by the violation of this section:

(a) In lieu of the f nc authorized by that section, irnpos^ a fine not exceeding the greater
of ffiree times the gross value gained or three times the gross loss caused and order the
clerk €^^the court to pay the fine into the state treasury to the credit of the corrupt activity
lnvestigation aiid prosecution fund, ^hich is hereby created;

(b) In addition to the fine described in division (B)(2)(a) of this section and the financial
sanctions authcsr^^ed ^^ section 29219.18 of the Revised Code, order the person to pay
court costs;

(c) In addition to the fine described in division (B)(2)(a) ^^^^ section and the firiaiicial,
sanctions authorized by section 2929a18 of the Revised Code, order the person to pay to
the state, municipal, county law enforcement agencies that lrarrdled the investigation
and prosecution the costs of investigation and prosecu.tion that are reasoriably 1iieurred,

The court sb-a.ll hold a hearing to determine the amount of fine, court costs, and other costs to
be imposed under this division.

(3) In addition to any other penalty or disposition authorized or required by law, the court
shall order any person who is convicted of or pleads guilty to a violation o]f this section or
who is adjudicated dolinquerzt by reason of a violation of this s-ction to criminally forfeit to
the state under Chapter 298 1. of the 1tevzsed. Code any persorral. or real property ln whie1-I the
person has an. interest and thal, was used in the course of or intentjed for use in the course of a
violation oa` thls section, or that was derived from or realized through. conduct in violation of
this section, including any property constituting an interest in, means of control over, or
influence over the enterprise involved in the violation and any property constituting proceeds
derived fronr the violation, igreludlng rff of the following:

(a) Any position, office, appointment, tenure, ccarmnisslon, or employment contract of
a,?ry kind acquired or maintained by the person in viol.at1on of this sectioir, through whlch
the person, in vio1at%s^^ of t^.is sectiorr., conducted or par•ticlpated in the conduct of arl
enterprise, or that afforded the person a source of influence or control over an enterprise
that the person exercised in violation of this sectioxx,

(lr) Any compensation, right, or i^^^te^^ de-rived ^^om a position, office, appointment,
tenure, cornmlssiorrs or employrnent contract described in division (B)(3)(a) of this
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^eGtion that aaenaed to the person in violation of this section duritig t-lie period of the
pattem of corrupt activity;

(c) Any interest in, security of, claim against, or propea-^^ or contractual right affording
the person a source of infl.^ence or control over the aft.°airs of an enterprise that the person
exercised in. violation of this section;

(d) Any amount payable or paid under any contract for goods or services that was
a-warded or performed in violation of this sectioii.
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Ohio Revised Code 292141.
Criminal gang d^fin.^^^onsr

As used irt sections 2923.41 to 2923,44 of the Revised Code:

(A) "Criminal gang" means an. ongoing fonnal or informaf organization, association, or
group of thiree or more persons to which all of the following applv.

(1) It has as one of its primary activities the commission of one or more of the offenses
listed in division (B) of this section.

(2) ^^ has a common na^^ or one or more ^omrnon, identifying signs, symbols, or
^^lors.

(3) The persons in the organization, association, or gro€ip individually or collectively
engage in or have ^^ga^ed in a patterxa of cratninal gang actgvity.

(B)

(1) 64J'att:em of criminal gang activity" means, subject to division (13)(2) of this section,
that persons ira the criminal gang have cornmgtted, attempted to conunit9 consplred to
commit, been complicitors in the ^ormnissi^^ of, or solicited, coerced, or intimidated
anothert^ ^ommzt attempt to ^onunlt, conspire to commit, or k^e in complicity in, the
commission of two or mo re of any of the foll^Arin^ offenses:

(a) A felony or aii act committed by ajuvenile that would be a felony if commgtied
by an a^tdt7

(b) Ari offense of violence or an act committed by a,^^^^^eniie that would. be ^
^^^en^^ of violence if crnunit#ed by an adult;

(c) A violation of ^ectior- 2907.04, 2909.06, 2911.211, 2917.04, 2919.23, or 2919.24
of the Revxsed. Code, sec; lcin 292 1.04 or 2923.16 of the Revised Code, section
2925,03 of the Revised Code if the offense is trafficking in marlhuazia, or section
2927.12 of the Revised Code.

(2) There is a ^^pattem of criininal gang activity" if all of the following apply with
respect to the offenses that are listed in dgvlsiagt (13)(1)(a)^ (b), or (e) of this section and
that persons in the. crirn.inal gang committed, attempted to conunit, conspired to commit,
Nvere in complicity in cogcimzttin.g, or solicited, coerced, or intimidated another to
commit, att^inpt to commit, conspire to commit, or be in. complicity in ^^ommlttlngo

(a).Atleast one of the two or more offeaises is a felony.
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(b) At least one of those two or more offenses s^^cuis on or after January 1, 1999.

(e) The last of those two or more off^^^^s o^^^^ within five ^ears after at least one
of those offenses.

(d) The two or mrsr^ offenses are committed on separate occasions or by two or more
persons.

(C) "Criminal conduct" ^can,.^ the commission ^^ an attempt to commit, a conspiracy to
commit, cornplicit-yr in the cornmission of, or solicitation, coercion, or intimidation of another
to ^onunit, a^^^^i to commit, ca^^s^ire to ^ommito or be ^.^ complicity in the commission of
an offense l7^^ed in division (13)(I)(a), (b), or (e) of this section or an act that is committed bŷ.7
a juvenile ^^. t^^.^t^ys^uld be P^>.^ ^+^`e^.se7 an attempt to cor^.^it an c^^`eiise, a conspiracy to
coniniit an. o^"ense, complicity an the commission of, or solicitation, coercion, or intimidation
of another to coramiit, attenipt to cornmaty conspire to commit, o or be in complicity in the
commission of an. of^ense listed ir. division (B)(1)(a), (b), or (c) of this section if c^^nmg.tted
by an adult.

(D) "Juvenile" means a person who is under eighteen years of ageo

(E) ``Law enforcement agency" includes, but is not linz€^ed to, th.e state board ofpha-rmacy
and the office of a prosecutor.

(F) "Prosecutor" has the same r^^ean%ng as in sectaon, 2935,01 ^^^^ Revised Code.
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